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AFFIDAVIT

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE PREPARATION OF AFFIDAVIT

This affidavit should be specifically addressed to the circumstances of your particular case and should not consist of generalities. When
you are uncertain as to matters related in your affidavit write “uncertain’. Where you claim that any action was taken by you as the result of
fear, you should state in each instance, with the greatest possible particuiarity, what was feared and why. If it is claimed that the fears were
caused by threats from individuals or groups of individuals, the nature of the threats, the names of the individuals making them, if known,
and the time, place and occasion for the making of the threats should be given.

If more space is needed for answers to particular questions, separate sheets of plain white paper should be used. Each separate sheet so
used should be plainly marked with the number of the question being answered and your name.

1. N D f Birth
5 Takashi Fumoto i B March 5, 1918

2. If born prior to December 1, 1924 | (A) Have you ever renounced Japanese When Where
nationality? My parents registered it right (after my birth
and when I found I hdd dual citizenship, I did not think it ngcessary to

3. If born since December 1, 1924 (A) Was your name ever registered with a Japanese Consulate for the purpose cﬁergslegvlilzg%?ur }a%:fnese
nationality?

If so, did you thereafter renounce your Japanese When
nationality?

4. State periods of visits to Japan and purpose of each visit:

Date

RN < & ta 31087 Accompanied parents.

1946 1954 See answer to 10(A).

5. Give details concerning any formal education in Japan:

School : : Period of Attendance

Ochiai Grammar School From 1924 To 1932

Matsumoto Commercial School 1932 1936

Specify subjects studied (attach additional sheet if necessary).

Business course

6. Have you ever made application for repatriation to Japan?....Y £S5, If so, give dateh’larCh.lJlgu.?), and your reasons for so
applying: January 3O) 19443
Oct. 3, 1945

See attached sheet

7. (A) Have you ever expressly indicated that you would not swear unqualified Have you ever declined to answer when asked whether you
allegiance to the United gt tes? would swear unqualified allegiance?
es. dee attached sheet

Or have you ever given a qualified answer to such question asked at War Relocation Centers? If so, give your reasons:

(B) If your answer to any of the questions in (A) is affirmative, then did you ever subsequently change your mind andf@:ress your willingness
to swear an unqualified allegiance or would you have been willing to do so if an opportunity had been afforded you? S If so, state

when you changed your mind and your reasons therefor: I would have been Willing to do so if my
family and I could have relocated in the United States without fear, or have
bome assurance that this could be done eventually, and have protection about
our citizenship status.
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(C) Did you ever indicate that you would not swear unqualified allegiance to the United States either expressly or by refusal to answer, or a quali-
If so, give reasons:

fied answer, knowing that by so doing you would be sent to the WRA Segregation Center at Tule Lake?

See answer to question T7(A).

8. (A)

WERE YOU EVER AT ANY TIME A MEMBER OF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ORGANIZATIONS:

2,
°

Period of
Membership

Black Dragon Society (Kokuryu Kai)

Central Japanese Association (Beikoku Chuo Nipponjin Kai)

Central Japanese Association of Southern California

Dai Nippon Butoku Kai (Military Virtue Society of Japan or Military Art Society of Japan) (Hokubei Kai)

Heimuska Kai, also known as Hokubei Heieki Gimusha Kai Zaibei Nihonjin, Heiyaku Gimusha Kai, and

Zaibei Heimusha Kai (Japanese residing in American Military Conscripts Assoc.) Heimusha Kai

Hinode Kai (Imperial Japanese Reservists)

Hinomaru Kai (Rising Sun Flag Society—a Group of Japanese War Veterans)

Hokubei Zaigo Shoko Dan (North American Reserve Officers Association)

Japanese Association of America (Zaibei Nihonjin Kai)

Japanese Overseas Central Society (Kaigai Dobo Chuo Kai)

Japanese Overseas Convention, Tokyo, Japan, 1940

Japanese Protective Association (Recruiting Organization)

Jikyoku Iin Kai (Current Affairs Association)

I B B B e et et Bl e e el Rl ol

Kibei Seinen Kai (Association of U. S. Citizens of Japanese Ancestry who have returned to America after
studying in Japan)

Nanka Teikoku Gunyudan (Imperial Military Friends Group or Southern California War Veterans)

Nichibei Kogyo Kaisha (The Great Fujii Theatre)

Neorthwest Japanese Association

P M| P

Sakura Kai (Patriotic Society or Cherry Association—composed of Veterans of Russo-Japanese War)
(Cherry Blossom Society)

Shinto Temples

Sokoku Kai (Fatherland Society)

Suiko Sha (Reserve Officers Association Los Angeles)

>4 (R

Hokoku Seinen-Dan

Hokoku Joshi Seinen-Dan

Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen-Dan

Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan

(B) Give reasons for becoming a member:

See attached sheet

(C) State nature of your activity and offices you held:

See attached sheet

(D) If you voluntarily discontinued membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, give approximate date and reasons for so doing:
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(E) If you claim that your membership in any of the aforementioned orgamzatlons, your activities therein, or your acceptance of an office was
due to misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization, explain fully:

See attached sheet

(F) If you at any time wished to discontinue membership, activity, or office and were prevented from so doing, explain fully:

See attached sheet

9. (A) When did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your United States citizenship?
Give reasons for so doing:

See attached sheet

(B) If reasons given in answer to preceding question differ from reasons given to officer who held renunciation hearing, give your explanation
for difference:

- See attached sheet

(C) If you claim that your renunciation was caused by fear, you should explain fully why such fear extended from the time of the application for
renunciation papers until the date of actual renunciation:

See attached sheet

(D) If the fear did not extend from the date of application to the date of approval by the Attorney General, you should state whether you made
any effort to withdraw your application, and if not, explain fully:

(B) If, after approval, you requested the Attorney General to withdraw his approval of your renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the
reasons for the delay in making such request:

I did not know I could make a request for cancellation until after I

came to Japan. I wrote to Mr., Collins and asked to be included in the
mass suit,
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(F) If there are any other facts which influenced your action in renouncing your United States citizenship, state fully below or on a separate sheet
if necessary.

I was not disloyal to the U.S. I registered with the draft board

and also served in the U.S. Army but the government classified me as
an alien enemy so I thought that my citizenship was taken away and
cannot be considered as citizen and will be deported to Japan finally.,

10. (A) If you now are in Japan, give your reasons for having returned to Japan.

Being under the pressure of the groups at Santa Fe I did not have a
chance to think straight as I wish and had to follow them., Matsuda,
Seiki, Urokogata and Yamada kept their eyes on me to see I went along,

(B) If you are in Japan, have you since you returned to Japan taken any action to resume or acquire Japanese citizenship?

Answer Yes or No
If you have, state nature of action taken and reasons therefor.

I have returned to the U.S. on a Certificate of Identity.

11. (A) If you have served or are serving in the military or naval forces of the United States fill in the following:

I enlisted (or was drafted) on...... Mar.c.hlS,lQ“l in the Army.
State the date State the Branch of Service

I still am in such service No ; I was rel d from active duty on Feb, 1 24 3 9}"'2 and received my Discharge

Answer Yes or No

i Dec, 31, 1942

(B) If at any time while in a war relocation center or since then you volunteered for military or naval service but your offer of service was rejected
state the time when and the place where you volunteered.

(C) State why your offer of such service was rejected, if the reason was made known to you.

(D) If you were rejected for military or naval service by your Local Draft Board since your release from a war relocation center state the reason
for the rejection if known to you.

12. If any member of your family has served or is serving in the military or naval forces of the United States state the relationship of such person
to you, the name of such person, the branch of service and serial number of such person:

Relationship

Branch of Service Serial Number

(Signature in full of applicant)

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 5 Ee)

This affidavit may be executed before any person authorized to administer oaths. -




Takashi Fumoto

6:

At the Topaz Relocation Center a number of Issei group were agitating
for repatriation. They attacked many people for speaking out against
them and for not obeying their wishes, Mr., Obata and Reverend Goto
and others were beaten by these gangs for refusing to apply for re-
patriation. The W.R.A., took Mr, Obata to a hospital outside the camp
because of fear he might be attacked and killed while in bed if he was
put in the camp hospital. I think Reverend Goto also was removed from
the camp for his safety.

I was living in bachelor's guarters in Block 77-C. My roommates were
the two Suehiro brothers and Akira Tamura. The younger Suehiro's first
name was Yoneo, I do not remember the elder brother's filrst name.
Akira Tamura was an army veteran as I was., While all the agitation was
going on my roommates and I spoke against the agitators, One day while
I was taking a shower in the public shower room in the block the older
Suehiro brother was beaten with clubs by a gang of 5 or 6 Issei and
Nisel for expressing loyalty to the United States and opposition to the
gangs' agitation in favor of repatriation and for refusing to apply for
repatriation. A Kibei who lived in the next apartment found him lying
unconscious under the bed and bleeding and had him taken to the camp
hospital. When I got to the apartment I saw the blood stains on the
floor. I visited him in the hospital., He had been badly beaten and
stayed several days in the hospital and later was given living quarters
in another section of the camp. He told me the gang had turned off

the 1lights and then attacked and beat him with clubs - that a neighbor
next door heard the commotion and opened the door to see what was

going on and then the attackers jumped out the window and escaped.
During this time the small internal security police force was not able
to protect us. After Suehiro was attacked some armed scldiers were
called in to guard the block but left in a few hours.

Tn the messhall in Block 7, Barracks 7, my roommates and I were refused
adequate coal supplies for our room in the barracks by the Block
Manager because we wouldn't apply for repatriation, I was working in
the WRA commissary warehouse and usually gotb off work late in the
evening and then the Issei chief cook in the messhall would refuse to
give me any meals for the same reasons and the only place I could get
anything to eat was in Block 35 where the man who became my father-in-
law would get me some food. Akira Tamura was in the same fix. Fre-
quently he and I would go to Dr, Murata who would get us some food.
Even after I gave "no" answers to questions 27 and 28 I was treated

the same way because I was suspected of being a spy against them because
I was a veteran and had made statements against them, I got the same
treatment until I was married on August 31, 1943, and moved with my
wife to Apt. 7-B in Block 33. I had to quit several jobs I had in the
messhall working as a Jjanitor, because of the way I was treated and
finally got a job in the warehouse.

The group calling themselves the "Kokuryukail" (Black Dragon Society)
led by a big Issel sumotori wrestler had many members in Topaz and
other pressure groups were agitating in Topaz for repatriation. Another
group from Hawaii was in control in Block 1, commissary warehouse. AS
we returned from our jobs in the evening people in our block and Block
1 could call us inu (dogs) and kokuzoku(traitors) and government spies.
I was in constant danger from the Issel pressure gangs because I was a
veteran and had spoken against them and expressed loyalty to the U.S.
The small internal security police force was unable to prevent these
threats and attacks. After Suehiro was beaten things got to be danger-
ous and I knew what would happen to me 1f I didn't apply for expatri-
ation so I signed the form.
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6 continued:

After Suehiro was beaten I received a letter from my parents, my father
actually doing the writing, through the Red Cross, saying that my
eldest brother had been forced to become an interpreter by the Japanese
Army and my younger brother had been conscripted into the Japanese

Alr Force and he was afraid they would lose their lives in the war.

So there was nobody to look after my parents. B8So I was afraid my
brothers would be killed in the war and my parents would be left alone
with no one to care for them in their old age. If I was to be kept

in camp for the duration unless I was deported to Japan before the war
ended I thought I better be sent to Japan where I could take care of
them instead of rotting in camp.

Although I was a U.S. citizen and had served in the Army and was let
out because I was a Japanese-American and got an honorable discharge
and was in the reserve corps, nevertheless I still was treated just
like an enemy and was put in a relocation center because I was a Kibeil
with parents and brothers in Japan, So I thought, like everybody said,
I would be deported to Japan because no Kibei was allowed to leave
camp and even if I could get permission to leave I was afraid that I
would be worse off as people would get to know my- brothers were in the
Japanese Army and Air Force. It was the general talk at Topaz that 5 s
we were to be relocated we wouldn't get any polilce protection from
attacks by white Americans. I was of the belief I probably would be
beaten or killed like I heard happened to others if I ever got let out
of camp.

A fellow named Takesan whanI became acquainted with in the Assembly
Center in Tanforan, California, although we were not in the same
barracks in Topaz, would goad me day and night whenever I happen to
come across him that I should make application for repatriation and
repeatedly asked me if I had done it and chided me that even though

I had served in the U.S. Army I was being treated like an enemy and
that since I was to be deported anyway the Japanese authorities would
surely punish me because I had served in the U.S. Army. He got more
belligerent as time went on. So I got to fear this might happen to
me too. .

After I was taken away from Tule Lake and interned at Santa Fe 1 was
forced by the pressure group there to sign up for repatriation again.
Masuda, Waki, Urogata, Yamada were the persons. This meant that I
would be repatriated faster so I said on the application that I
wanted to see my parents in Japan. When I was sent to Santa Fe, my
wife and child remained in Tule Lake. I wanted to be reunited with
my family and I believed that the only way I could do so, with

gafety for all of us, was to go through with the repatriation request,
My renunciation hearing was over with and I believed I had no status
at all and was not wanted in this country. I believed that since I
could only expect to go to Japan, together with my wife and child, that
it .was a matter of protection for all of us that I make the request
so that there would be no risk of reprisals taken against us when we
arrived in Japan. When I made the application I said that I wanted
to be repatriated, that my loyalty was to Japan and I wanted to join
my parents there. I thought it was necessary to make these state-
ments at this time. I had noopportunity to think for myself during
this period or even to realize what steps I was then taking, as I
felt driven in this direction because of the circumstances I had been
living under and the pressure from the group at Santa Fe.




Taka@shi Fumoto

7(A):

I registered for the draft at San Carlos, California, and was drafted
in March, 1941, into the Army; I served in California from March, .
1941, until February, 1942, and was in the Reserve Corps until I re-
ceived an honorable discharge.

At first I refused to answer the questions because I had already

served in the U.S. Army and sweared my alleglance which proved my
loyalty. I was called in by the F.B.I. in Topaz five or six times to
make an answer. I finally reluctantly answered "no'" because I feared
that 1f I answer "yes" that I would be branded as a spy for the
Government against the Japanese in camp and my life would be in danger,
This suspicion was all the more keen because of the fact that people

in camp knew that I had served in the U.S. Army and therefore didn't
trust me and hated.me, They had their eyes on me, namely, Takesan,

the Issel from San Mateo who had been at Topaz, Masami Chikasue (a
Kibei, I believe) from Hawaii, and Yamamoto (a Kibei) who used to

live in San Francisco. They said my father and two brothers in Japan
would be taken care of by the Kempeitai and I would be deported and

get what was coming to me if I gave '"yes" answers to the questions,
They said if I answered "yes'" I might get thrown out of camp and as

I had no safe place to go and it would become known my brothers were

in service in Japan I would get attacked and probably killed as the
public feeling against Japanese with relatives in Japan was high.

When one of the agents asked me to comment on Pearl Harbor I said I
would rather not. I gave that answer because I had my father and two
brothers in Japan, I told him I proved my loyalty by swearing
allegiance and serving in the Army. He said I couldn't refuse to
answer Questions 27 and 28 but that I had to answer "yes" or "no", I know
I was alarmed that if I made a comment against Japanese attack on Pearl
Harbor and this news leaked out to the pro-Japanese gangs that I would be
in for trouble in camp and that my brothers and father might get in
trouble in Japan., I believed that I had no choice about being deported
sooner or later and that it was a matter of safety all around to write
"no" since I had to answer this question,

8(B):

Through the influence of the pressure groups, including the "Tiger
Gang" and at that time it was impossible to be in the right state of
mind to realize and think clear and straight, I was forced to become

a member. I did not know that my name was listed as anything but a
member until Mr. Masuda, the heavy-bearded Japanese language teacher,
who was the Hoshi-Dan leader, wrote to someone in camp and appointed
me chief of Ward 6, because that officer had been sent with him to
Santa Fe. Not many more members were left by then because of all
being removed to Bismarck or Santa Fe and mostly all was named as an
officer by this time. I was never consulted and I never consented or
performed any duties. I think this was done by Mr, Masuda just to try
to convince people in Tule Lake that the organization was powerful and
active even if the leaders had been removed from camp for being trouble-

makers.

In our ward there were only about 6 listed members left and we were
sent to Santa Fe in the last group in June, 1945. I wanted to have
nothing to do with the organization after it got to making so much
trouble and drilling and marching all over camp. It seemed ridiculous
but it was dangerous to try to drop membership. When I spoke to Masuda
about it he said to just try and go ahead and when you get sent to
Japan they will take you for an American spy because you were in the
American Army and get shot, but if you keep your membership that will
prove you were not against Japan. When I learned I was to be removed
to Santa Fe I dared not say I wanted to drop because my safety de-
pended upon when I went there among the leaders.
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8(c):

I did not perform any duties but I was appointed through Mr. Masuda
as chief of Ward 6 after that officer had been sent with him to
Santa Fe; .see answer to question 8(B).

I never took part in any of the drills or marching demonstrations.
I did attend a few lecture meetings but none after the first group
of leaders were taken out of camp to Santa Fe right after Christmas
of 1944, Before Masuda was removed I told him I wanted to drop
membership but he said.I better not try it.

8(E):

All the left over members were named officers just by being named

by the leaders who were taken away. We could do nothing about it,

I did not consent to being named an officer, did not perform any
duties and never agreed to accept being an officer., But I heard that
Masuda had written to someone in camp and said my name should be put
down as an officer in ward 6. In our ward there were only about 6
listed members left when I heard about it and we were sent to Santa
Fe in the last group in June, 1945,

8(F):

I wanted to have nothing to do with the organization after it got to
making so much trouble and 1t drilled and marched all over the camp.
But it was dangerous to try to drop membership. When I spoke to
Masuda about it he said go ahead and try it and when you get sent to
Japan they will take you for an American spy because you were in the
American Army and you will get shot but if you keep your membership
that will be proof that you were not against Japan,

There was no way for me to cancel my name from being listed as an
officer by Masuda whille he was in Santa Fe as all the leaders and
members had been taken away. When I learned I was to be sent to
Santa Fe and be deported from there I did not dare to tell anyone I
did not want to have anything to do with the organization or have my
name dropped from being listed as an officer because when I was sent
to Santa Fe I would be back among them and my safety depended upon
doing nothing but remain silent because of what they might do to me
and because they would report me to the Japanese government if I did.

9(A):

Around the last part of 1944, The Tiger Gang forced me to send
application for renunciation. Masuda, one of the top leaders of the
Hoshi-Dan, the block manager of Block 53, (name ?) who was a Hoshi-
Dan leader, the leader from Seattle named Kimura and a number of the
members told me I had to send for the forms. When I did not do so
immediately they told me I better do it if I knew what was good for
me., Masuda, the block manager, and Kimura and other men such as
Nakanishi, of Block 53, who is in Japan, Tanaka of Block 53, and
Hashikuni, all Hoshi-Dan members, all looked into it, checking mail,
keeping after me, and passing word around so that I was sure to get
the form. I was living in Block 53 with my wife, Emiko, and my baby
daughter, Reiko,who was born at Tule Lake on August 9, 1944. (We
were married at Topaz Center on August 31, 1943,)
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9(A) continued:

There was a man at Tule Lake named Torao, I don't remember his last
name, I think he was. a Kibel and I heard he was an ex-convict. He
was the leader of the Tiger Gang which was named after him because
that Japanese word for tiger is "Tora". This Torao held meetings right
in the messhall, He and his gang would barge in and take down the
names of all those who refused to join the Hoshi-Dan and to renounce
citizenship., He sald he would take care of anybody who refused and
besides that their names would be given to the Kempeitai and they would
get what was coming to them in Japan, The Tiger Gang was made up of
strong~-arm boys and was a branch of the Hoshi-Dan. They tried to

keep the identity of their members secret., We heard they were the
ones most responsible for beating up people who refused to join the
Hoshi-Dan and obey their orders to renounce citizenship. They were
worse than the Manzanar, Hawali and San Pedro groups. Torao announced
that broadcasts from Japan said that all of us would be deported to
Japan and we had to take the consequences if we arrived in Japan with
U.S, citizenship. He quoted what he said were in the broadcasts, He
said deportees keeping their U.S. citizenship would get what was
coming to them from the Kempeitai. This sounded authentic so I was
afraid what would happen to me and maybe to my parents and brothers

in: Japan if I got sent there.

Block 53 where I lived in Tule Lake was a stronghold of Hoshi-Dan
leaders. They were very active in goading persons to renounce,
threatening we would have to take the consequences, and threatening
our names would be given to the Japanese Government by the Hoshi-Dan
and we'd get in trouble there., And they meant that they would harm
me and the family physically. Everybody in camp knew that those who
opposed any of the Dan leaders were beaten and their families
threatened with similar doings. I knew of the Hitomi murder by some
fanatics. His murder was never solved. The Tiger Gang members
would point out that unless one complied with their demands, one's
fate would be the same as Hitomi's, I had my wife and baby to think
about and the danger of opposing the movement kept me worried and

scared.

A man named Kagawa was one of the chief leaders of the Hoshi-Dan in
my block. He talked just like Torao, He was a kendo expert and
gave lessons in kendo in the laundry room, I think he was an ex-
Japanese soldier. He was a fanatic and by his overbearing and
threatening talk scared all the people in the block. Fighting and
beatings of people who oiposed the renunciation movement took place
right in front of Block 49 next to us.,

Living a confined, restricted life full of uncertainties and doubts

and rumors of the hostility of the Caucasian community against the
Japanese people in places where they relocated I was not only scared
but mentally confused as to what was the right course to take and

could not distinguish rumor from truth, Different Tiger Gang members
repeatedly asked me at the messhall in Block 53 why I did not join

the Hoshi-Dan and why I did not make application for renunciation,

They gave every conceivable reasons for doing so, that is to say, about
my treatment at the hands of the U.S. government in spite of my service
in the Army, the general hostility of the Caucasian people against
people of Japanese ancestry and the impossibility of making a living

in such a community. They said they will report me to the Japanese
government officials unless I complied with their wishes and I would
get killed there for having been a U.S. soldier. They argued 1 was
going to be deported to Japan anyway and I better do it if I had any
sense., These reasons at the time I was in Tule Lake seemed valid to

me since the general trend of thinking was all one sided as repeatedly
emphasized by the propaganda of the Hoshi-Dan. As far as I know, there
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9(A) continued:

was no authentic news from outside the camp and even if they were
related to us, I was not able to distinguish whether or not the news
items were valid or something which the Dan leaders thought up to
back up their activities for renouncing,

Although I had served in the U.S. Army I had been treated like an
enemy and put into concentration camp with no rights of a citizen,
therefore, I was convinced that finally I would be deported to Japan,
I was afraid that if I did not take steps to renounce my U.S. citizen-~
ship, I would be looked upon as an enemy of Japan who had served against
Japan as an American soldier, and would be treated as such by the
Kempeital, I feared not only for my life but I feared that my parents
and brothers in Japan likewise would be in trouble from the Kempeitai,
Having been in Japan, I knew as a matter of course, just what the
Kempeitai would do to me for having borne arms against Japan and what
they could do to make life miserable for my father and brothers in
Japan if they were still alive. And therefore I feared all the more
what would happen to me and my family should I be deported to Japan
without having first renounced U.S. citizenship.,

9(B):

A lady conducted my hearing. I asked for an interpreter because my
English was not good; she asked my name and address and sald that if
I could answer that much I didn't need an interpreter, I had been
warned by the block manager and the Hoshi-Dan leaders that I should
say I was a Japanese and I had loyalty to Japan and soO was renounc-
ing. The block manager was one of the first to have a hearing so

he knew what would be asked and he and other Dan men gave out

their instructions. I said that I was a Japanese person, with real
Japanese spirits and that I was loyal to Japan. I had been impressed
with the conviction that I had to get approval for my renunciation,
for the reasons I have explained in my answer to question 9(A), and
I believed it was necessary to speak as I did for the protection and
safety of my family and myself, no matter which way things turned
out because we still had to stay in camp and had to account to the
Dan leaders.

9(c):

I was fearing I would be deported because I was let out of the Army
and treated like an enemy alien and so expected all of us would be
deported; also because I had said "no,no" and heard all the "no,no"
persons would be deported and that all the "yes,yes" people would be
relocated by force, I was in fear of the possibility of relocation
without money, friends or job and because of hatred against Japanese.
I feared if we had to relocate, my wife and child and I would not be
accepted and with no jobs who would take care of them. I feared
relocation from time I was in Topaz because the general talk was that
if we were attacked on the outside the government would not protect us.
My situation, as explained in answer to Question 9(A), was the same
right up to the time of my hearing.

I was sent to the Santa Fe Camp and my wife and child remained at
Tule Lake. I was anxious for us to be together again and at the

same time I was under the pressure and influence of the group at
Santa Fe. My renunciation hearing was over with and I believed that
I had no status at all in this country; that I had to be very careful
because since I would likely be sent to Japan and with my record of
service in the U.S. Army, I believed I had to be cautious about my
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9(C) continued:

conduct for there was such a good chance that I would be reported
later to the Japanese authorities. I was impressed with the need to 20
through with the repatriation request and when there was an interview
on' July 5, 1945, with a Parole Inspector I believed I had to be
convineing about wanting to return to Japan. I said that T thought

I would be repatriated sooner from the internment camp, be able to
serve my country in the future and that I would even be separated
from my wife, if this was necessary, to go to Japan., At this period
I was scared to even indicate any doubt about what I must do because
I belleved that I was being watched by the groups from Tule Lake and
I had to follow their instructions as I went along and it was their
instructions to make certain of the repatriation request and to
follow through at every chance in bringing this about. I was told to
be very positive about my wishes and that such statements as I made
would show that I did not hesitate and was willling to go under any
circumstances.

I never had any wish of my own to go to Japan and I had been very
satisfied to stay in this country, to serve in the U.S.

Army and I was willing to continue my service. But after the events
that occurred to me, all of which convinced me that I was more like
an alien than a citizen in the eyes of the government, and after the
long camp period of pressure, influence and brutality and the mental
strain over the years, I came to believe that I had no choice to make
about my future but instead it was decided for me. So I did what I
could, under the circumstances, for the protection and safety of my

family.
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AFFIDAVIT Co 12 CEBL 5-7-¥3

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE PREPARATION OF AFFIDAVIT

This affidavit should be specifically addressed to the circumstances of your particular case and should not consist of generalities. When
you are uncertain as to matters related in your affidavit write “uncertain”. Where you claim that any action was taken by you as the result of
fear, you should state in each instance, with the greatest possible particularity, what was feared and why. If it is claimed that the fears were
caused by threats from individuals or groups of individuals, the nature of the threats, the names of the individuals making them, if known,
and the time, place and occasion for the making of the threats should be given.

If more space is needed for answers to particular questions, separate sheets of plain white paper should be used. Each separate sheet so
used should be plainly marked with the number of the question being answered and your name.

1. Name Takashi Fumoto . Date of Birth March 5, 1918

2. If born prior to December 1, 1924 | (A) Have you ever renounced Japanese When Where
nationality?

My parents registered it right after my hirth and when I found I had dual

citizenship, I did mot think it necessary torenouneec its
3. If born since December f, 1924 (A) Was your name ever registered with a Japanese Consulate for the purpose of reserving your Japanese
nationality?

If so, did you thereafter renounce your Japanese When
nationality?

4. State periods of visits to Japan and purpose of each visit:

Date Purpose

(e Te 1037 Accompanied parents
1046 1954 See answer to 10(2A).

5. Give details concerning any formal education in Japan:

School 1 Period of Attendance

\
Ochiai Grammar School \me 1924 To 1932

ial ‘ 1932 1936

Specify subjects studied (attach additional sheet if necessary).

Business course

6. Have you ever made application for repatriation to Japan?is e If so, give date and your reasons for so
applying:

See separate sheet

7. (A) Have you ever expressly indicated that you would not swear unqualified Have you ever declined to answer when asked whether you
allegiance to the United States? would swear unqualified allegiance?

See separate sheet

Or have you ever given a qualified answer to such question asked at War Relocation Centers? If so, give your reasons:

See separate sheet

(B) If your answer to any of the questions in (A) is affirmative, then did you ever subsequently change your mind and express your willingness
to swear an unqualified allegiance or would you have been willing to do so if an opportunity had been afforded you?..........ccooeeieeeee. If so, state
when you changed your mind and your reasons therefor:

I would have been willing to do so if I was certain that my family
and I could have relocated in the U. S. without fear and have equal

rights as other citizens.
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(C) Did you ever indicate that you would not swear unqualified allegiance to the United States either expressly or by refusal to answer, or a quali-
fied answer, knowing that by so doing you would be sent to the WRA Segregation Center at Tule Lake? .. ... If so, give reasons:

I was made to believe final deportation and I did so because I wanted
my family to be together. : :

8. (A) Period of.
WERE YOU EVER AT ANY TIME A MEMBER OF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ORGANIZATIONS: Membership

Black Dragon Society (Kokuryu Kai)

Central Japanese Association (Beikoku Chuo Nipponjin Kai)

Central Japanese Association of Southern California

Dai Nippon Butoku Kai (Military Virtue Society of Japan or Military Art Society of Japan) (Hokubei Kai)
Heimuska Kai, also known as Hokubei Heieki Gimusha Kai Zaibei Nihonjin, Heiyaku Gimusha Kai, and

Zaibei Heimusha Kai (Japanese residing in American Military Conscripts Assoc.) Heimusha Kai

Hinode Kai (Imperial Japanese Reservists)

Hinomaru Kai (Rising Sun Flag Society—a Group of Japanese War Veterans)
Hokubei Zaigo Shoko Dan (North American Reserve Officers Association)
Japanese Association of America (Zaibei Nihonjin Kai)

Japanese Overseas Central Society (Kaigai Dobo Chuo Kai)

Japanese Overseas Convention, Tokyo, Japan, 1940

Japanese Protective Association (Recruiting Organization)
Jikyoku Iin Kai (Current Affairs Association)

Kibei Seinen Kai (Association of U. S. Citizens of Japanese Ancestry who have returned to America after
studying in Japan)

Nanka Teikoku Gunyudan (Imperial Military Friends Group or Southern California War Veterans)
Nichibei Kogyo Kaisha (The Great Fujii Theatre)
Northwest Japanese Association

Sakura Kai (Patriotic Society or Cherry Association—composed of Veterans of Russo-Japanese War)
(Cherry Blossom Society)

Shinto Temples

Sokoku Kai (Fatherland Society)

Suiko Sha (Reserve Officers Association Los Angeles)
Hokoku Seinen-Dan

Hokoku Joshi Seinen-Dan

Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen-Dan

Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan
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(B) Give reasons for becoming a member:

I was led into becoming a member and did not know or hear at the time
that it was a bhbad organization.

(C) State nature of your activity and offices you held:

See separate sheet

(D) If you voluntarily discontinued membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, give approximate date and reasons for so doing:
I never took part in any of the drills or marching demonstrations.

I did attend a few lecture meetings but none after the first group of
leaders were taken out of camp to Santa Fe right after Christmas of 1944,
Before Masuda was removed I told him I wanted to drop membership but he
said I better not try it. : )
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(E) If you claim that your membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, your activities therein, or your acceptance of an office was
due to misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization, explain fully:

_.See separate sheet

(F) If you at any time wished to discontinue membership, activity, or office and were prevented from so doing, explain fully:

See separate sheet

9. (A) When did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your United States citizenship?
Give reasons for so doing:

See separate sheet

(B) If reasons given in answer to preceding question differ from reasons given to officer who held renunciation hearing, give your explanation
for difference:

See separate sheet

(C) If you claim that your renunciation was caused by fear, you should explain fully why such fear extended from the time of the application for
renunciation papers until the date of actual renunciation:
I was fearing I would be deported because I was let out of the Army
and treated like an enemy alien and so expected all of us would be depo-
rted also because I had said No-No and heard all the No-No persons would
be deported and that all the Yes-Yes people would be relocated vby force.
I was in some fear of the possibility of relocation without money, f{iend
or job and because of hatred against Japanese. I feared jf'weé had to -
relocate, my wife and child and' I would not be accepted and with no jobs
who would take care of them. I feared relocation from time I was in Topaz

because the general talk was that if we were attacked on the outside the
government would not protect us.

(D) If the fear did not extend from the date of application to the date of approval by the Attorney General, you should state whether you made
any effort to withdraw your application, and if not, explain fully:

(E) If, after approval, you requested the Attorney General to withdraw his approval of your renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the
reasons for the delay in making such request:

I did not know I could make a request for cancellation until after
I came to Japan. I wrote to Mr. Collins and asked to be include in the
mass suit.




8. Yes, At Topaz Santa Fe.

At the Topaz Reloeation Center a2 number of Issei group were agitating
for prepatriation, They attscked many people for speaking out sgninst them
and for not obeying their wishes, lr. Obata and Reverend Goto nd others
were' beaten by these gangs for refusing to apply for repatriastiocn. The W,R.A.
took &ir, Dbata to a hospitdl outside the camp beenuse of fear he might be
attacked and killed while in bed if he was put in the camp hospit=l, I
think Reverend Goto also was removed from the camp for his safety.

I was living in bachelor's gquarters in Block77-C. My roommates were
the two Suehiro brothers =nd Akira Tamura, The younger Suehiro's first
name was Yoneo, I do remember the elder brotier's first name. Akirs
Tamurs was an army veteran as I was. While all the agitation was going on
my roommates and I spoke against the agit tors., One day while I was taking
a shower in the public shower room in the block the older Suehiro brother was
beaten with clubs by a gang of 5 or 6 Issei snd lNisei for expressing loyalty
to the United States and opposition to the gangs' agit tion in favor of re-
patriation and for refusing to apply for repatriation. A Kibei who lived
in the next apartment found him lying unconscious under the bed and blecding
and had him taken to the camp hospital, When I got to the apartment I
saw the blood stains on the floor. I visited him in the hospitsl. He had
been badly beaten and stayed sev-oral days in the hospit:l and later was
given living quarters in another section of the eamp., He told me the gang
had turned off the lights and then attacked snd beat him with clubs—- that
a neighbor next door heard the commotiobn and opened the door to see what
was going on and then the att ckers jumped out the window and scaped.
During this time the small internal security police forée was not sble to
protect us. After Suehiro was attacked some srmed soldiers werc called in
to guard the Bloek but left in = few hours.. ;

In the messhall in Block 7, Barrscks?; my roommates snd I were refused

adequate coal suprlies for our room in the barricks by the Blogck Manager
because we wouldn't apply for repatriation, I was working in the WRA
commissary warehouse snd usually got off work late in the evening snd then
t he Issel chief cook in the messhall would refuse to yive me ny meals for
the sameé reasomns and the only place I could get anything to.eat was in

B' lock 38 where the izan who beeame my f:ther in law would get me some food,.
Akira Tamura was in the same fix., Frequently he and I would go to Dr.
Murata who would get us some food. FEven after I gave No unswers to questions
27 and 28 I was treated the same way because I was suspected of béing a spy
ag inst them because I was a veteran and had mnde statements against them,

I got the same treatment until I was married on August &l, 1943, and moved
with my wife to Apt. 7-B in Bloek 33, I had to quit several Jobs I had in &
the messhall working a2sa janitor, becnuse of the way: I was trested 2nd.
finally got a fob in the warenouse,

The group odlling themselves the "Kokuryuxai® (Black Dragon Soclety)
led by a big Issei surotori wrestler had many members in Topaz snd other
pressure groups were agitaticn in Topaz for repatriation, Another group
from Hawaii was in control in Block I, commissary warehouse, :
As we returned from our Jjobs in the evening people in our bloek =nd Bloek.1
could eall us inu ( dogs) and kKokuzoku (traitors) and government sples,

I was in constant danger from thes Issei pressure g ngs beeause I was a
veteran ani had spoken sgainst them and expressed loy:lty to the U.S..

The small internal security police force was unable to prevent these threats
and attacks. After Suehiro was beaten things got to be dangerocus and I knew
what would happen to me if I didn't apply for expatriation so I signed the
fOI‘m. :

After Suehiro was buaten I received n letter from my parents, my father
actually doing the writing, through the Red Cross, saying that ny eldest
brother had been forced to become an interpreter by the Japsnese srmy 2nd
wy younger brother had been conscripted into the Japsnese air force -nd he
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was afraid they would lose thir lives in the war, So there was nobody

to look after my parents. So I was afraid my brothers would be killed in
the war and my parents would be left alone with no ome to eare for them in
thir old age, If Iwas to be kept in camp for the durstion unless I was de=-
prted to Japan before the the war ended I thought I better be sent to Japan
where Icould take carc of them instead of rotting in camp.

Although I was a U.S., citizen snd had served in the Army and was let
ocut because I was 2 Japanese~American and got an honorable discharge and
was in the reserve e¢orps, nevertheless I still was treated Jjust like an enemy
and ‘was put in a relocation center because I was & Kibei with parents and
brothers in Japen. So I thought, like everybody gaid, I would be deported
to Japan because no Kibel was allowed to lesve camp and even if I could get
permission to leave I was afraid that I would be beaten or killed in camp
or cast outside from the Center where I would be worse off as people would
get to know my brothers were in the Jopanese army and air force. It was
the genersl talk at Topaz that if we were to he relocated we wouldn't get
any police protection from attacks by white Americans. I was of the belief
I probably would be beaten or killed like I heard ha pened to others if I
ever got let out of camp.

A fellow named Takesan who I became zcqusinted with in the Assembly
Center in Tanforan, Califernia, although we were not in the same barracks
in Topaz, would goad me day snd night whenever I happen to come ncross him
that I should make application for repatriation and repestedly asked me if
I had done it and chided me that even though I had served in the U.S. Army
I was being trested like an eneiny s2nd that since I was to be deported anyway
the Jepanese authorities would surely punish me becnuse I had served in the
U .S, Army. He got more belligerent 4s time went on. So I got to fear this
might happen to me T00.

After I was taken zway from Tule Lake :nd interned at Santa . Fe I was
forced by the pressure group there to sign up for repatristion again,
M asuda, Waki, Urogata, Yamada were the persons. This meant that I would
be repatriated faster so I think I said on the application that I wanted to
see my parents in Japan, When I hesrd that my wife had telephoned me froms
Tule Lake and wanted to be relocated in the U,S. I wanted to cancel it but
I was so frightened I could not do anything about it because of this groupj
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At first I refused to angwer the uestion becnuse I had already served
in the U, 8. Army and sweured my niieglance which proved my loyaity,.
1 »u8 called &n by the F.Bsl. 1n Topusi five or six times to vake an ANEEEr.
I finaily reluctsntly answored "Ho" becuuse I feared thit if I answer “Yesh
that I would be branded as & spy for the Governsent against the Japanese in
camp angd my 4ife would bi in danger. This suspiclon was 21l the wore kKeen
vscause of the fact thiat pecple in cainp wnhew that T had served in the U.8,
Army and therefore didn't trust me ¢nd hated me. They had their eyes on
me, namely, Takesan, the Issel from Sun Mateo who had been at To 8%, Nasami
Chikasue ( a Kibei, I beijeve) from Hawall, and' Yamamoto (& Kibel) who used
to idve in Sen Pranclsco, They sald wy father and two brothers in Jagan
would be taken care of by the Kefiteltil nd 1 would be deporved and get what
wag coming Lo me Af I gave Yes answers Lo the questions. They seid if I
answered Yos I might get thrown out of camp snd os I had no safe place to
g0 and 4t would become knosn my brothers were in service in Japen I would
get attacked and probably killed as the publie feeling against Jupanese
with relatives in Japan wsae high, #hen one of the agenis esked meé to vomment
on Pearl Harbor I said I sald I would rether not., I gave that answer because
I had my {ather «nd two brothers in Japan., I toid him I proved my loyslty
- byyswearing sllegiance snd serving in the Army. He said I eoulda't refuse to
answer wuestlonsZ? and 28 but thit I had to snswer Yes or No, I kKhiow I was
aiarmed that if I made a comment sgsinst Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor
and this news leaked out to the P ro-Japanese grungs that I would be in for
trouble in eamp and that uy brothers and fether might get in trouble in
Jhpﬂn. g
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I did not know that my name was listed -+ anything but s member until
Mr, ¥asuda, the heavy besarded Japanese language tescher who was a Hoshi Dan
leader, wrote to sonecne in camp and tried to appoint me chiel of ward 6
because thit officer had been ssnt with him to Banta Pe.  This was done withe
out consulting me and I never consented to accept the Job and never performed
any duties, I think this was done by Masuda just to try to conwlnce [eople
in Tule Leke that the organization was powerful snd active even though the
leaders hsd been repoved from eamlnp for being Srouble makers,

8 (B

All %he left over meubers were named officers just by buing named
by the leaders who were taken awiy, ¥%e could do nothing about it, I
did not consent to being named sn officer, did not perform sny dutics and
never agreed to accept being '"m offiger., But I heard that Misuds had
written to someone in camp and seid @y nam@ should be put- down as an
officer in ward 6, In our ward there were onliy zbout 6 listed unenbers
left when I heard about 1t and we were sent to Santa Fe in the last group
in~June 18495, :

8 (¥)

I wanted to have nothing To do with the orgsnizgation after it got %o
making so much trouble znd it drillied snd marched all over theée cnmp,s o But
it was dangerous to try to drop membership., Vvhen I spoke to Masuda sbout
it he sald go ahesd &nd try it and when you get sent to Japan they will
take you for am Awerican spy becuuse you weére in the Amerlesn Arwy and you
will get sho but 1if you kKeep your mempbership thet will be proof that you wire
not against Japan, .

Thereé was no way for me w0 cancel my nsme {rom béing iisted as an
officer by Mazuda while he was in Santu Fe as sll the leaders and members
had been taken away, %hen I lesrned I was to be sent to Banta Fe and be
deported from there I did not dare to tell annyone 1 did not want to have
anything to do with the organiszation or have my neme dropped from belng
léited a8 an oificer because when [ was sint to Sante Fé I would be buek
among them and wy safety depended u-on doing nothing but remsin silent
because of whatl they might do to me “nd because they would preport me to the
Japunese government if I did,

% souw go0u pIP I
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9 (1) Around the lust part of 1944,

The Tiger Gang forced me to send spplicavion for repunciation, X
trded to svwoldd 4% us I didn't want to do it, Hasuda, one of the top leaders
of the Hosni Din, the Bloeck i snager of Block 53, ( naue?) who wus a hoshi
dan leader, the leader from Seattle nawed Kimura snd « nusber of the members
told me I had Lo send for the form, I said No but they told me I better
do it if I knew what was good for me, I stalled and said later that I had
done it but Masuds, the Bloek Manuger and Kimura shd others such 28 Naksnishi
of Block 53 who is in Japan, Tanaks of Bloek 835, and Hsshikuni, sll Hoshi Dan
members, said I was lying as I didn't receive any wmall frem the Justice
Department through the Bliock Mamager's officey I'was living in Block SO
with my uife, Buiko, and my buby doughter, Reike, wmho was born at Tule Lake

£

on August 9, 1844, (We wers married at Topaz Center on August 51, 19434)
There #ds » man st Tule Lake Hawed Torso, I don't resesbsr his last name.
I think he was a Kibei and I hHeard he was sn ex-convict, He was the leader
of the Tiger Gang which was named sfter him becsuse that Japanese word for
tiger 48 "Tora", This Torso held meetings right in the messhail. He nnd his
gang would barge in and take doswn the nimas of all thore whorefuscd to Jjein
the Hoshi Dan and to rencunce eitizenship, He sald he would take care of any-
body who refused and besides that their namey would be given to the FKenpeltal
and they would gel whot wasg coming to them 4n Japan, The Tiger Gang was
made up of strong arm boys and was a branch of the Hoshi Dun, They tried to
ke¢p the identity of their members seécret, %We heard they were the ones most
responsible for beating up people sho refused to join the Hoshi Dan and obey
their orders to renounce citizenship. They wore worse then the Hanzsnar, Hea-
wsil ond San Pedro groups. Torao snnounced that brosdceasts Irom Jepan seld
that all 6f us would:be deporsedto Japan anu we hod to iake the conseqyences

if #e arrived in anén with U.8. citizenship, e gquoted what he sald were 1t
the brodeasts, He s2id deportees Keeping their U,.8. citizenship would get
what was coming to them from the Fempeital, This sounded suthentic so I

was afyraid what would happen to me und maybe to my parents asnd brothers in
Japan 4 T got sent there,

Biock 52 where I lived in Tule Lske was a stronghold of Boshi Pan
lesders,  They were very active 'ln goading persuns Lo renounce, threatsning
us who had not made spplication to renounce 4o hurry up and do 80 or else
we would have to take the consequences, and threatening our names would be
given to the Japaneése Government by the Hoshi Dan and we'd gel in trouble
there, And they mednt that shey would harm me und ‘the Tauily physically.
Everybody in camp knew that those who osppsed any of the Dun leaders uere
beaten and their fanilies threutened with similsr doings, 1 knew of the
Hitoul muvder b y some fuinstics, His murder was never scvived, The Tiger
gang members would polint out that unless one coxpiled with lhelr demands,
cnets fate would be the same as Hitowi's, I -had sy wife and baby to
think about snd the danger of opposing the uovemeni Kept me worried =nd scared

A man naped Kogn®a €as one of the chief leaders of the Hoshi Dan in
my Block, He talked just like Torac, . He was a kendo expert and gave
1 essons in kendo in the lsundry room. I think he was an ex-Juponesge
soldier. He was s fanatic snd by his overbesring ind threatening talk
geared sll the pe oplie in the block, Fighting snd beatings of people who
opposed the renunciation movement took ploce right din front of Bloek 49
next o us, ;




Living a confimed, restricted life full of uncertainties and doubts
and rumors of the hostility of the Caucasian Community sgainst the Japanese
people in places where they relocated I was not only secared but mentall

- eonfused as to what was the right course to Bake and could not distingu
fumor from truth, Different Tiger gang members repeatedly asked me at the

- messhall in Bloek 53 why I did not Join the Hoshi Dan and why I did not
make application for renunciation, They gave every conceivable reasons for
doing so, that is to say, about my treatment at the hands of the U.S.
government in spite of my service in the Army, the general hostility of the
Caueasian people against people of Japanese ancestry and the impossibility
of making a living in sueh a coumunity. They said they will report me to the

. Japamese government officials unless I compiied with their wishes and I would
get killed there for having been a UsSe soldier, They argued I was going to
be deported to Japan anyway and I better do it if I had any scenses These re-
asons at the time I was in Tule Lake seemed valid to me since the general
trend of thinking was all one sided as repeatedly emphasized by the propaganda
of the Hoshi Dan, As far as I know, there was no authentic news from outside
the camp and even if ‘they were related to us, I was not able to distinguish
whether or not the news items were valid or something which the Dan leaders
thought up to back up their activities for renouncing, ., ‘

Although I had served in the UsS, Army I had been treated like an
enemy and put into concentration camp with no rights of = eitlzen, therefore,
I was convineed that finally I would be deported to Japan, I was afraid
that if I did not taken steps to renounce nmy U,S. citizenship, I would be
looked upon as an enemy of Japan who hadserved against Japkn as an Ameriecan
soldier, and would be treated as such by the Kempeitaii I Teared not only
for my life but I feared that my parents and brothers in Japan likewise would
be in trouble from the Kempeitai, Having been in Japan, 1 knew as a matter §
of course, just what the Kempeitai would do to me for having borneyamas i}
against Japan and what they could do to make life miserable for my father i
and brothers in Japan if they were still alive., And therefore I feared all py
fhe nme what would happen to me and my family should I be deported to Japan
without having first renounced U.S. citizenship,




o (B)

A lady conducted my hearing, I asked for sn interpreter because my
English was not good, 'Bhe usked ny name »nd address and sald that if
I eouid angwer that wugh I didn't need an interpreter, I had been warned
by the Block Menager James Kimurs I think he 1s Kimura whatlimust cay,
He had been one of the firstto have s hearing snd s0 he xnew what we would
be asked, He said that I must say thit no one pressured we and that I was n
rencuncing of my own free wille My hearing wsas brielf 1 was asked Ly name,
residence and why I was renouncing, and I said I an a Japanese and reunoucing.
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AFFIDAVIT

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE PREPARATION OF AFFIDAVIT

This affidavit should be spectﬁcally addressed to the cxrcumstances of your particular case and should not consist of generalities. When
you are uncertain as to matters related in your affidavit write “uncertain”. Where you claim fhat any action was taken by you as the result of
fear, you should state in each instance, with the greatest possible particularity, what was feared and why. If it is claimed that the fears were
caused by threats from individuals or groups of individuals, the nature of the threats, the names of the individuals making them, if known,
and the time, place and occasion for the making of the threats should be given.

If more space is needed for answers to particular questions, separate sheets of plain white paper should be used. Each separate sheet so
used should be plainly marked with the number of the question being answered and your name.

1. Name Date of Birth
Takashi Fumoto March 5, 1918

2. If born prior to December 1,1924 | (A) Have you ever renounced Japanese When Where

My parents registered € ¥ight after my birth and when I found I had dual

eitizenshin, T did not think it necessary to renounce it.

\.od. Ud-uvssu&&‘y x=

3. If born since December 1, 1924 (A) Was your name ever registered with a Japanese Consulate for the purpose of reserving your Japanese
nationality?

If so, did you thereafter renounce your Japanese When
nationality?

4. State periods.of visits to Japan and purpose of each visit:

Date Purpose

From 1919 To 19867 Accompanied parents

1946 1954 See answer to 10(4).

5. Give details concerning any formal education in Japan:

School Period of Attendance

Ochial Grammar School From 1924 To 1932

Matsumoto Commercial School 1932 1936

Specify subjects studied (attach additional sheet if necessary).

Business course

h@mzﬁ//?%d

6. Have you ever made application for repatriation to Japan? k\g ........ If so, give date , and your reasons for so
applying:

See separate sheet

7. (A) Have you ever expressly indicated that you would not swear unqualified Have you ever declined to answer when asked whether you

allegiance to the United States?y, See se par ate she twould swear unqualified allegiance?

Or have you ever given a qualified answer to such question asked at War Relocation Centers? If so, give your reasons:

See separate sheet

(B) If your answer to any of the questions in (A) is affirmative, then did you ever subsequently change your mind and e ﬁress our willingness

to swear an unqualified allegiance or would you have been willing to do so if an opportunity had been afforded you?. ... J L 5. ... If so, state

when you changed your mind and your reas etefor.
“$o do so w{sfc aln my f
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(©) Did you ever indicate that you would not swear unqualified allegiance to the United States either expressly or by refusal to answer, or a quali-
fied answer, knowing that by so doing you would be sent to the WRA Segregation Center at Tule Lake? If so, give reasons:

believe final defortation and I did so Se I wanted

e together

A cr7 A gl fafe

8. (A) Period o€
WERE YOU EVER AT ANY TIME A MEMBER OF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ORGANIZATIONS: Membership

Black Dragon Society (Kokuryu Kai)

Central Japanese Association (Beikoku Chuo Nipponjin Kai)

Central Japanese Association of Southern California

Dai Nippon Butoku Kai (Military Virtue Society of Japan or Military Art Society of Japan) (Hokubei Kai)
Heimuska Kai, also known as Hokubei Heieki Gimusha Kai Zaibei Nihonjin, Heiyaku Gimusha Kai, and

Zaibei Heimusha Kai (Japanese residing in American Military Conscripts Assoc.) Heimusha Kai

Hinode Kai (Imperial Japanese Reservists)

2,
°

b

Hinomaru Kai (Rising Sun Flag Society—a Group of Japanese War Veterans)
Hokubei Zaigo Shoko Dan (North American Reserve Officers Association)
Japanese Association of America (Zaibei Nihonjin Kai)

Japanese Overseas Central Society (Kaigai Dobo Chuo Kai)

Japanese Overseas Convention, Tokyo, Japan, 1940

e

Japanese Protective Association (Recruiting Organization)
Jikyoku Iin Kai (Current Affairs Association)

Kibei Seinen Kai (Association of U. S. Citizens of Japanese Ancestry who have returned to America after
studying in Japan)

e

Nanka Teikoku Gunyudan (Imperial Military Friends Group or Southern California War Veterans)
Nichibei Kogyo Kaisha (The Great Fujii Theatre)
Northwest Japanese Association

Sakura Kai (Patriotic Society or Cherry Association—composed of Veterans of Russo-Japanese War)
(Cherry Blossom Society)

Shinto Temples

Sokoku Kai (Fatherland Society)

Suiko Sha (Reserve Officers Association Los Angeles)
Hokoku Seinen-Dan

Hokoku Joshi Seinen-Dan

Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen-Dan

Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan

FNM P Pd| P P4 NN%

(B) Give reasons for becoming a member:

Iw ed_#€0 b oming,a’”dr’ ’ S ‘Hegprat the’ time
thw organ i -~ _ f/

s

(C) State nature of your activity and offices you held: -

EyCrtlatmte
See separate sheet ‘A

(D) If you voluntarily discontinued membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, give approximate date and reasons for so doing:

Y’#”’-;_;ever took part in any of the drills or marching demonstrations.

I did attend a few lecture meetings but none after the first group of
leaders were taken out of camp to Santa Fe right after Christmas of 1944,
Before Masuda was removed I told him I wanted to drop membership but he

said I better not try it.

/
( e
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(E) If you claim that your membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, your activities therein, or your acceptance of an office was
due to misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization, explain fully:

See separate sheet

(F) If you at any time wished to discontinue membership, activity, or office and were prevented from so doing, explain fully:

See separate sheet

9. (A) When did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your United States citizenship?
Give reasons for so doing:

See separate sheet

(B) If reasons given in answer to preceding question differ from reasons given to officer who held renunciation hearing, give your explanation
for difference:

See separate sheet

(C) If you claim that your renunciation was caused by fear, you should explain fully why such fear extended from the time of the application for
renunciation papers until the date of actual renunciation:

I was fearing I would be derorted because I was let out of the Army
and treated like an enemy alien and so expected all of us would be depo-
rted;alsc because I had said NO-No and heard all the No-No persons would
be deported and thit all the Yes-Yes people would be relocatéd by force.

I was in sem® fear of the possibility of relocation without money, friend S
or Jjob and because of hatred against Japanese. I feared if we had to
relocate, my wife and child and I would not be accepted and with no jobs
who would take care of them. I feared relocation from time I was in Topaz
because the general talk was that if we were attacked on the outside the
government would not protect us.

(D) If the fear did not extend from the date of application to the date of approval by the Attorney General, you should state whether you made
any effort to withdraw your application, and if not, explain fully:

(E) If, after approval, you requested the Attorney General to withdraw his approval of your renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the
reasons for the delay in making such request:

I did not know I could make a request fSor cancellation until after
I came to Japan. I wrote to Mr. Collins and asked to be included in the
mass suit.
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(F) If there are any other facts which influenced your action in renouncing your United States citizenship, state fully below or on a separate sheet
if necessary.

I was not disloyal to the U.S. I registered with the draft board
and @130 served in the U.S, Army but the Gov't Classified me as an alien
enemy 8o I thought that my citizenship was taken away and can not be con-
sidered as citizens and will be deported to Japan finally.

10. (A) If you now are in Japan, give ycur reasons for having returned to Japan.

Being under the pressure of the groups at Santa Fe I did not have
A chance to think straight as I wish and had to follow them. Matsuda,
Seki, Urokogata and Yamada kept their eyes on me to see I went along.

(B) If you are in Japan, have you since you returned to Japan taken any action to resume or acquire Japanese citizenship?
Answer Yes or No

If you have, state nature of action taken and reasons therefor.

I have returned to the U. S. on a Certificate of Identity.

11. (A) If you have served or are serving in the military or naval forces of the United States fill in the following:

I enlisted (or was drafted) onM&r.l‘5,l9‘}‘l Yy ;

" State the date - - State the Branch of Service -

I still am in such service No ; I was released from active duty on Fe b Y s e e S received my Discharge

Answer Yes or No

onlr De-C..Sl,lQQ

(B) If at any time while in a war relocation center or since then you volunteered for military or naval service but your offer of service was rejected
state the time when and the place where you volunteered. /

(C) State why your offer of such service was rejected, if the reason was made known to you.

(D) If you were rejected for military or naval service by your Local Draft Board since your release from a war relocation center state the rzason
for the rejection if known to you. '

12. If any member of your family has served or is serving in the military or naval forces of the United States state the relationship of such person
to you, the name of such person, the branch of service and serial number of such person:

Relationship

Branch of Service Serial Number

o7 e AR

(Signature in full of applicant)

Subscribed and sworn to before me this.....23xrd day of..... . February......... ,10.55

Notary Seal /s/ Shizuo Namba
Notary Public in and for the

City and County of San Franci
State of California

My Commission Expires June 25, 1955.

éco

This affidavit may be executed before any person authorized to administer oaths.




6. Yess At Topaz Santa Fe. Takashi Fumoto

At the Topaz Heloeation Center a mumber of Isseil group were agitating
for repatriation., They attacked many people for speaking out agalnst them
and for not obeying their wishes. lir, Obata and Reverend Goto "nd others
were ' beaten by these gangs for refusing to apply for repatriation. The W.R.A,
took Mr. Obata to a hospital outside the eamp because of fear he might be
attacked and killed while in bed if he was put in the camp hospital,., I
think Reverend Goto also was removed from the camp for his safety.

I was living in bachelor's quarters in Bloeck77-C. My roommates were
the two Suehiro brothers and Akira Tamura. The younger Suechiro's first
name was Yoneo. I do remember the elder brotier'!s first name. Akira
Tamura was an army veteran as I was, While all the agitation was going on
my roommates and I spoke against the agit tors. One day while I was taking
a shower in the public shower roou in the block the older Suehiro brother was
beaten with clubs by a gang of 5 or 6 Issei ind Nisei for expressing loyalty
to the United States and opposition to the gangs! agit tion in favor of re-
patriation #nd for refusing to apply for repatriation. A Kibei who lived
in the next apartment found hin lying unconscious under the bed and bleeding
and had him taken to the camp hospital. When I got to the apartment I
saw the blood stains on the floor. I visited him in the hospital. He had
been badly beaten and stayed several days in the hospital and later was
given living quarters in another section of the eamp. He told me the gong
had turned off the lights and then attacked and beat him with clubs- that
a neighbor next door heard the commotion 2nd opened the door to see what
was going on and then the att ckers jumped out the window asnd ©scaped.
During this time the small internal security police force was not able to
protect us. After Suehiro was attacked some armed soldiers were called in
to guard the Bloek but left in a few hours.

In the messhall in Block 7, Barracks7, my roommates and I were refused
adequate eoal suprlies for our room in the barracks by the Bloeck lanager
because we wouldn't apply for repatriationy I was working in the WRA \
commissary warehouse and usually got off work late in the evening and then
t he Issel chief cock in the messhall would refuse to give me any meals for
the same reasons and the only place I could get anything to eat was in
B lock 35 where the man who became my fother in law would get me some food.
Akira Tamura was in the same fix. Rrequently he and I would go to Dr.

Murata who would get us some food. FEven after I gave No answers to questions
27 and 28 I was treated the same way because I was suspected ¢f being a spy
ag inst them because I was & veteran and had made statements against them,

I got the same treatment until I was married on August 31, 1943, and moved
with my wife to Apt. 7-B in Block 33. I had to quit several Jjobs I had in %
the messhall working as a_janitor.  because of the way I was treated and

. finally got a fob in the warenouse. ;

The g¢roup calling themselves the "Kokuryukai" (Black Dragon Society)
led by a big Issei sunotori wrestler had many members in Topaz and other
pressure groups were agitation in Topaz for repatriation. Another group
from Hawaii was in control in Block I, commissary warehouse.

As we returned from our jobs in the evening veople in our block and PBlock 1
could eall us inu ( dogs) and kokuzoku (traitors) and government sples.

I was in constant danger from thes Issei pressure g ngs because I was =
veteran ani had spoken against them and expressed loyalty to the U.S..

The small internal security police force was unable to prevent these threats
and attacks., After Suehiro was beaten ‘things got to be dangerous and I knew
what would happen to me if I didn't apply for expatriation so I signed the
form.

After Suehiro was beaten I received s letter from my parents, my father
actually doing 'the writing, through the Red Cross, saying that my eldest
brother had been forced to become an interpreter by the Japanese army snd
my younger brother had been conscripted into tiie Japanese air force and he

was




was afraid they would lose thir lives in the war, So there was nobody

to look after my parents, So I was afraid my brothers would be killed in
the war and my parents would be left alone with no one to eare for them in
thir old age. If Iwas to be kept in camp for the duration unless I was de-
prted to Japan before the the war ended I thought I better be sent to Japan
where Icould take carc of them instead of rotting in camp.

Although I was a U.S. eitizen and had served in the Army and was let
out because I was a Japanese-American and got an honorable discharge and
was in the reserve corps, nevertheless I still was treated just like an enemy
and was put in a relocation center because I was a Kibel with parents and
brothers in Japan. So I thought, like everybody said, I would be deported
to Japan because no Kibei was allowed to leave camp and even if I could get
permission to leave I was afraid that I would be beaten or killed in camp
or cast outside from the Center where I would be worse off as people would
get to know my brothers were in the Japanese army and air force. It was
the general talk at Topaz that if we were to be relocated we wouldn't get
any police protection from attacks by white Americans. I was of the belief
I probably would be beaten or killed 1like I heard happened to others if I
ever got let out of canmp.

A fellow named Takesan who I became acquainted with in the Assembly
Center in Tanforan, California, although we were not in the same barracks
in Topaz, would goad me day and night whenever I happen to come across him
that I should make application for repatriation and repeatedly asked me if
I had done it and chided me that even though I had served in the U.S. Army
I was being treated like an eneuy and that since I was to be deported ~nyway
the Japanese authorities would surely punish me because I had served in the
U «5. Army, He got more belligerent as time went on. So I got to fear this
might happen to me too.

After I was taken away from Tule Lake - nd interned at Santa Fe I was
forced by the pressure group ‘there to sign up for repatriation again.
M asuda, Waki, Urogata, Yamada were the persons. This meéant that I would
be repatriated faster so Sl I szid on t application that I w
T E grd-tHat . had? & Yo 0




7 (A) Yus‘-

At first 1 refused to answer the questlions because I had alresdy served
in the U, 5. Army snd sweared my alleglonce which proved my loyalty.
I was ecalled in by the F.B.l. in Topasz five or six tirmes to make an answer.
I finally reluctantly answered "No" because I feared that if I answer "Yes®
that I would be branded s a spy for the Government agsinst the Japanese in
camp and my liife would bR in danger., This susvicion was 211l the more kcen
because of the faet that people in caunp knew that I had served in the U.8.
Army and therefore didn't trust me snd hated me., They had their eyes on
me, namely, Takesan, the Issel from San Mateo who had been at Topaz, Masami
Chikasue ( a Kibei, I believe) from Hawaii, and Yamawoto ( @ Kibel) who used
to iive In San Francisco. They suid my father snd two brothers in Japan
would be taken esre of by the Kempeitsi snd I would be deported amd get what
w88 coming to me i I gave'Yes snswers to the guestions, They said if I
answered\Yes" I might get thrown out of csmp and a¢ I had no safe place to
£0 and it would become known my brothers were in serviée in Joapen I would
get attacked and probably killed as the public feeling agzinst Japanese
with reliatives inoJapan was high., W%When one of the agents asked me to comment
on Pearl Harbor I said I said I would rather not. Irgave that answer because
I had my father snd two brothers in Japan., I told him I proved my loyalty
byyswearing allegiance and serving in the Army. He said I couldn't refuse to
answer Questionsg? and £8 but thit 1 had to asnswer Yes or No. I know I was
alarmed that if I made a comment against Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor
and this news leaked out to the P ro-Japanese g ngs that I would be in for
trouble in camp and that sy brothers and father might get in trocuble in
Japan,
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/ tht heavy pfaptied Japanefe 1l e tedche a€ 44 Hoshi Dan
ot /¥o sogebnein efmp shd tried 16 3 Nt ne £ of " Tard~6
hagl been s€ds”
g pf and Lrever gol
nink #his a4 Gone Ay
hat thé opfan€zatigff“was |

been reuvewted from ca(f‘

All the left over members were named officers Jjust by being named

by the leaders who were taken away. We could do nothing about it. I
did not econsent to being named an officer, did not perform any duties and
never agreed to accept being an officer. But I heard that Masuda had
written to someone in camp and said my mamés“should be put down as an

¢ offiecer in ward 6. In our ward -there were only about 6 listed members
left when I heard about it and we were @ent to Santa Fe in the last group
in June 1845, . ' 9 ' ‘

8 (¥) ;
I wanted to have nothing to do with the organization after it got to
making so much trouble and it drilled and marehed all over the camp, But
it was dangerous to try to drop membership., When I spoke to Masuda about
it he said go ahead and try it and when you get sent to Japan they will
take you for an American spy because you were in the American Army and you
will get sho bu$ if you keep your membership that will be proof that you were

not against Japan, 4

: _ : V)fﬁj”
There was no way for me to cancel my name from bé¢ing listed as an

officer by Masuda while he was in Santa Fe as all the leaders and members ‘

had been taken away., When I learned I was to be sent to Santa Fe and be

deported from there I did not dare to tell anyone I did;not want to have

anything to do with the organization or have my name dropped from being

léited as an officer because when I was sent to Santa Fe I would be back

among them and my safety depended upon doing nothing but remain silent

because of whal they might do to me and because they would report me to the

Japanese government if I did.

% mouy 20U PIP I
(0) 8




9 (A) Arcund the last part gf 1844,
The Tiger Gang forced me P send applicapa#®On for renuncistion, I
tried to ayoldd 1t as I didnl¥ want to do i Masuda, one of ¢ top leaders
of the Hoshi Dan, the Blgef M snager of #ock 53, ( namezd¥ who was a hospd
an leader, the leadep-from Seattle pefied Kimura and ~fiumber of the meTbers
told me I had to semd for the foru I said No bu ey told me Petter
do it if I knew yMfat was good fgeme, I stalledrfnd sald lobef that I had
done 1t but Mpe#uda, the Block Manager and KipdTa and otherS suech as NHakanishi
Who is In Japany” Tanaka of Bloek 54, ang-#Gshikuni, all Hoshi Dan
fald 1 was lying/Aas I didn't »rf€ceive syl i v -
SRR bbbt b o o g “1 was living in Block 53
with my wife, Eunlko, and my baby doughter, Reiko, who was born at Tule Lake
on August 9, 1944, (We were married at Topaz Center on August 31, 1943,)

There was a man at Tule Lske Named Torao, I don't remember his last name,
I think he was a Kibei and I heard he was an ex-conviet, He was the leader
of the Tiger Gang which was named after him because that Japanese word for
tiger 1s "Tora", This Torao held meetings right in the messhall, He and his
gang would barge in and take down the names of all those whorefused to join
the Hoshi Dan and to renocunce citizenship, He said he would take care of any=
body who refused and besides that their names would be given to the Kempeitai
and they would get what was coming to them in Japan, The Tiger Gang was
made up of strong arm boys and was a branch of the Hoshi Dan, They tried to
keep the ldentity of their members secret. We heard they were the ones most
responsible for beating up veople who refused Lo join the Hoshi Dan and obey
thelr orders to renounce citizenships They wiere worse than the Manzanar, Ha-
wall snd San Pedro groups: Torso announced that broadcasts from Japan said
that all of us would be deporiedto Japan and we had to take the conseqyences
if we arrived in Japan with U.S. citizenship., He quoted what he said were t
the brodcasts., He said deportees xeeping their U,8. eitizenship would get
what was coming to them from the Kempeitzi. This scunded authentic zo I
was afraid what would happen to me snd maybe to my perents and brothers in
Japan if I got sent there. '

Block 85 where I iived in Tule Lake was & stronghold of Hoshi Dan
leaders, They were very active in goading persons to rencunce, threatening
us who had not made application te renounce to hurry up and do s0 or else
we would have to take the consequences, and threatening our names would be
given to the Japanese Government by the Hoshi Dun and we'd get in trouble
there., And they mesnt that they would herw me and the family physically.
Everybody in easmp Knew that those who osppsed say of the Dan leaders were
beaten and their families threatened with similar doings., I knew of the
Hitoud murder b y some fanaties, His murder was never solved., The Tiger
gang members would point out that unless one gcomplied with their demands,
one's fate would be the same as Hitomi's, I had my wife snd baby to
think about and the danger of opposing the movemen!. kept me worried and scared,

- Agman named Kagawa was one of the chief leaders of the Hoshi Dan in
my Block. He talked Jjust like Torso. He was a kendo expert and gave
1l essons in kendo in the laundry room, I think he was an gx-Japanese
scldier. He was a fanatic snd by his overbearing snd threatening talk
scared all the pe ople in the block, Fighting and beatings of people who
opposed the renunciation movement took place right in front of Bloeck 48
next to us.




biving & confimed, restricted life full of uncertainties and doubts
and rusors of the hosztility of the Caucasisn Community sgninst the Japanesa
people in places where they relocated I was not only scared but mentally
confused as to what was the right course to¢ fike and: could not iistinguish
rumor from truth,  Different Tiger gang members re eatediy asxed e at the
messhall in Block 55 why I did not J0in the Hoshi Dan snd why I did not
make ajpplication for renuncistion, They gave every conceivable reéasons for
doling so, that 1s to S8y, ubout wy treatment at the hands of the U,8,
governuent in spite of wy service in the ATy, the genersl hostility of the
Caucasian people against revple of Japanese aacestry and the impossibiiit.
of making a living in sueh & coumunitys They ssid they will report me Lo the
Jaupanese povernsent officisils uniess I cosp.led with ‘their wishe: and I would
get xilied there for having been s UsBs soldier, They argued I was geing to
be deportved to Japan anyway and I better do it if I had any s.nse, These re-
asons a2t the time I was in Tule Luke seemed valld %o 'me¢ since the general
trend ol thinking was all ome sided os repeatediy emphasized by the Lrepagands
of the Hoshi Dan, As far a2s 1 Know, there wis no authentic news from outzide
the camp and even if they were related to us, 1 was not able to distinguish
whether or nol the news iteuns were vaiid or scmething which the Dun leaders
thought uy to back up their actlvities for rencuncing,

Adthough I had served in the U.s. Aty I had ‘been treated like an
eneny and put into concentration camp with no rights-of = ¢ lzen, therefore,
I was convineed that fincily 1 would be deporsed to Japan, I #as afraid
that if I did not tuken steps to renounce @y Uebe eltizenshi:y, I would de
iovked upon as an enemy of Japan who hadserved against Janac as an Averican
soidier, and would be treated us such by the Kempeitai, T feared net cnly
for wy life but I feared that By parents and brothers in Japan likewise would
.be in trouble Lfrom the Rempeitad, Having been in Jagah, 1 know ns a matter
of course, Just what the Rempelial would do $0 me for having bornearms

agalnst Japan and whit they could do to make iife miserable for my father
snd brothers in Japan if they were still 4iive, And therefore I fesred a1l
the more what would happen to me and my tamily should T be deported Lo Japan
wlthout having first rencunced Usle citizenship, :




9 (B)
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PERSONAL QUEST IONNAIRE

Please read this questicnnaire carefully and then print, type or write

your answers legibly to the following questlions,

a, State your full name, Takbash m/f;{/’?dfo

b, Male? _X_ _ Female? __ __ Maiden Name?

¢. Birth place? _Sun Frasecrsco, (af/f.  Birth dste? [larch S5 /948

d., Have you ever renounced Japanese Natlonallty? A2 When?

Where? __
Have you ever visitéd Japan? ZQS When? (/PrZ=374#nd /7%57(
Did you attend schoo£ in Japan? _JeS When? _J¥R¥ - 3€

How long? /2 ’7/—\5 What Schoola? Z£Lcmen 74--'/"'/ Eag (oM MERGs ac/
Period of attendance: _ /2R ¥~ F2A (732 -34 |

PRELIMINARY QUEST IONS
Where did you live before evacuabion? / uls dg_gégr}ac,/ Lrom fhe army
on Feb, Then slared Ph Y, | 4, Hofe/ /5 Pos7 ST. S F. Then fjm(/ja' Camp,

What was your occupation before evacuation?

Before beiny draffed [ was o nursery worker

" Who, if anyone, was wholly or partially dependent upon you for support

at the time you were evacuated? _/en e_

Where did your father and mother reside at the time of evacuation? ____

///POS‘/)/M S \L,%n
Were bthey aliens? __Jes

(/- Japan)
What were their ages at the time of evacuation? Mother L& Lalher {0

Were your parents both evacuated also? ég ® Was either of them in 1l1ll
health while in a WRA Center? gﬂ Was either of them hospibtalized

while in a WRA Center? __ A8 If so, when and in what Center?

Wore you or any other membets of your family In ill health while in a
WRA Center? _ If gso, state who was, and, if hospitalized, state

when, for what period of time, and in what Center?

1ed? Aug fmore.
When and where were you married? d_%ia Z [PH#3 Lilimore Ulah
What is the name of your spouse? __ LMK o (KaTod [ umo]o




Is your spouse (wife or husband) a U. 8. citizen, a renunciant or an

alien? () S. Cs7r2en

e o

What are the names, birthdates and bthhplaC/P of vour ghildrent .
RerkKo Fumel?d Hug. 9, /194¥ Ne wasv

T Mgég{ﬁﬂdfﬂ'\ Jg%/,_g 29 (950 L05 /J;ggk. \Tb;ﬂdm IR R

What members of your family were evacuated with you? (Wife, husband,

children, father, mother, brothers, sisters, father-in-law, mother=in-

law) [ whs sy09/e a7 The Teme ofF Evcaa)lsx

State what members of your family (spouse, mother, father, brothers,
sisters, children, father-in-law or mother-in-law) were in Japan during

the war? 7{’47‘4er~ ' Ae A ard brd 7 hCrS

Who of them, 1f any, were U. S. citizens? _gldesp b roZhe i

Did any of them serve in the Japanese armed forces? )’qs
brothers

State what members, if any, of your spouse's family (your father-in-law,

mother-in~law, sisters-in-law, brothers=-in-law, or stop-children) were in
Japan during the war and whether thry are U. S. citizens or Japanese

aliens? 704 p

Did you suffer any property losses by reason of your evacuation? g/e  Did
you file a claim to recover losses you suffered by reason of your

evacuat ion? Zc-g, _., for what amount did you file your claim? /ﬂdﬁ‘ﬁiﬂ@mw
Hmount did you receive in settlement of your claims? fop €. Did your
parents suffer any property losses by reason of evacuat ion? @ If so,

for what amount did they file claims? What amount did they

receive In settlement of their claims?

State whether your husband, father or any other member of your family was

interned as an alien enemy after the outbreak of war in an Alien Enemy

Internment Camp, for removal to Japan, and, if so, in what camp? ﬁﬁii
F.—-vr-\ Tvtlt fo SQA+4 FL,




3

When and where were you reunited with such member of your family?

Did you apply for "short term', "seasonal work", "indefinite leave",

"student's leave" or "relocation" while you were in a WRA Center? gh»

When did you make that application?

In what camp were you at that time?

Were you denied leave? By whom?

What reasons wers given to you for denying your applicat ion?

Did you go out for seasonal work or on any leave clearance? 4£@>_ When and

where did you go and for what period of time?

What type of work did you do?

Did you experience any discrimination or persecut ion while on leave?

If so, state the experience.

R T R T TR A

To what Center did you return?

State the names of any members of your famlly or any of your friends who
went out on leave or relocation and experienced discriminat ion or perse-

cut ion,

What happened to them?

=k =

When did the occurences teke place? Yoht

Where did they happen?

From whom or what sources did you hear or learn those things?




I AR L ey 2
4

-
Did you know or learn of any other persons on leave having been subjected

to discriminat lon or persecut ion? Zé s What wore their names?

Ml Mops oo [ Fhirk LS same xS Sbe2 S O O
fcorhee dencd  Aank. '

What happensd to them? whea 4e  en? sul oo scacear! Sugarbel-
wook Hex did 237 geue bim  foxd
When and where did the occurrences take place? /_Qg-nf Aoou” Q[A&l-&/’

_buT Ag J-/Wﬂ_-r)"E ‘{_ié‘c(?/ fa /&E_ff’ﬂf‘l- ALS /h;fdfcﬂ//l

Re: APPLICATIONS FOR REPATRIATION

To what Assembly Center were you evacuated? E}L&[""&d SaA Brano
’, 7

] -

Cla e

To what WRA Center were you next transferred? mz%g@& L/Z;A

Sy

In what Block did you live there? __ _gIK _7- 7- <

With whom did you share quarters there? ";;gcAlr-D brofhers and

ﬁ//k, ra. TAmura,

In what Camp were you when you applied for repatriation to Japan? ?_. £42
g,'\d Tale L.gk_e—

Did you make that application before or after you answered the Army

Queationnalre in Febpuary or March, 19437 | do noll _remem pe i

When 4id you make that application? T”FA > & Tk

Did you personally make that application? yegq If not, who did?

Undev the influence gFf [ressurec 9oz fs
Did any of the following persons aslso make applicat ions for repatriation
to Japan? Your husband? ___ Wife? jesc ~father? __ __ mother?
brothers? _____ sisters? ____ father-in-law? jes mother=-in-law? )25
brothers-in~law? ____ sisters-in~-law? __ __ When and in what Center were

they at the time they did this?

Did they then fear that the government Intended to deport all allens %o
Japan? JeS ; that it intended to deport all Kibel to Japan? Jeg ; that
it intended to deport all Nisei to Japan? Jes_

Did you make more than one application for repatriation to Japan, and, if
so, when and where did you do so? T o FA 2 angd Ll o fin
$ideg apth e g bid o oL da les




What members of your family pressured you into applying for repatriat ion

to Japan?

What did tyey say to you to get you to apply for repatriation?

Did anyone else, not a member of your family, pressure you into applying
for repatriation to Japan?'zfgis. lame the persons who did and state

whether they were Issei, Kibei, or Nisel, and blocks where they lived.

A persen nf{me_d “(Ctke San . [1531’-') - L:glo nol” Fememéch
\j ye P
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If those persons were leaders or members of any organization state the

name of thes organizat ion,

What did those persons tell you to get you to apply for repatriation?u.we
ev en'{u ﬂ-‘/
o

wheoneas | was accused of 1nu’ on accounl of Jwas

-

P
What dlglyou then believe would happen to you if you did not make an appli-

cation for repatriation to Japan? _was nfluenced and believed
M&Q—;—;&&iﬁ.@@éf uS e [ was K bey

Were you fearful that if you did not apply for repatriation you would be

marrek €

(v
gseparated from your husband? wife? ch children? ¥y ___ mother?

father? brothers? __ sistera? ____ or other persons?
Wore those persons in the same Center with you at the time you applied for
repatriation? Yes If any of them were not, state who was not and where

they were at the time,

e

Did you belleve that if you didn't apply for repatriation to Japan that
sooner or later you would be forced to relocate in the U. 8.7 ___ 5 In an
area hostile to Japanese? ____; that you might be drafted into the armed
forces? ;m“g; that you would be separated from alien members of your
family you believed would be deported to Japan? _____

Did you make application for repatriation because you belleved the Govern-
ment had no use for you and intended to deport you to Japan because you
were Kibei? Yes ; of that it intended to deport you to Japan because your
parents were there? Yeg ; or because your parents were aliens here and

that it Intended to deport them on an exchange ship to Japan simply because

they were aliens? 3 and that they wanted you to be with them and not




be separated from them?

ety

Re: ' QUESTIONS 27 -AND 28
In what WRA Center were you at the time you answered the Army Question-
naire cortaining Questions Nos. 27 and 28? ¢/ 72442
Tn what Block were you living in that Center at that time? 7-7-& -

s =

Was the Questionnaire you answered the Army Quest ionnaire or the WRA

Application for Leave Clearance, if you remember? [/ do 457 penCy bei~

Did you give a nogrtive answer to Question.No, 277 Yes 5 to Questlon No.
285ﬂj§g§. Did you refuse to answer Question No. 272 Jes_; Question No.
28?7 Yes

Did any members of your family pressure you or threaten you into giving a
"No" answer to Questions Nos. 27 and 28 or inbto refusing to answer those

questions? Ae  Who were the family members who did this?

What did they say to you to get you to answer "No" to those questions or

to refuse to answer those questions?

Did you give a "WNo" answer to those questions or refuse to answer them

bacause your father? ___ mother? __ brothers? slsters? or

=2 (s

other family members? ___ were in Japan at the time and you feared they

*IY/
A might get in trouble with the Japaness government if you were silling to

gserve in the U. 5. Army? ____ or were willing to swear alleglance to the
U. 8.2 ____ Did you give "No" answers to those questions or refuse to
answer them because your father? ___ mother? _ __ brothers? _ __ sisters?

or other family members? ____ were in the U. 8., but you bellieved they
were to. be deportec to Jepan and that they would get in trouble with the
Japanese Government when they arrived there if you had answered "Yes" %o
those questions? ____ . Did you give a "No" answer to those questions
becauge you belleved that eventually you would be deported to Japan and
you feared that if you gave a "Yes" answer to those questions you would
get In trouble with the Japansse Government when you arrived in Japan?
Yes.

Did any other persons pressure or threaten you into giving "No" answers
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to those questions or into refusing to answer those questions? _
are the names of those persons and state whether they were Issel, Kibel,
or Nisei and the Blocks in which they lived and the organization, if any,

of which they were mewubers?

Wnat did those persons say to you to get you to give "No" answers to

those questlons or to refuse to answer those questions? __

What did you fear would happen to you if you didn't give "No" answers to

those questions or you didn't refuse to answer them?

What 4id you fear would happen to other members of your family if you
didn't give "No" answers to those questions or you did not refuss to

answer bthem?

Did you refuse to answer those questilons because you already had applied
for repatriation to Japan and you understood that if you already had
applied for repatriation you did not have to answer those quest ions?

Did you give "No" answers to those questions or refuse to answer them
because you regsented being evacuated, confied to a WRA;Center and treated
Iike an“aklent * o, L7

Did you give "No" answers to those questions or refuse to answer them
because you already had applied for repatriation and believed that 1f you
cave "Yes" answers your application for repatriation would be cancelled

L

and you might be drafted into the armed forces? ; or be forcibly re-

located in the U, S. while the war still was going on? . Did you

feer that If you were to be drafted you would be discriminated against
and be persecuted in the armed forces? _ . Did you fear that iIf you
were drafted? ____ or relocated? _____ you would be permanently separated
from members of your family ﬁho were to be repatrieted to Japan? ____ 3

from what family members did you fear to be separated?

=g

Did anyone else, not a member of your famlly, pressure or threaten you

into giving "No" answers to those gquestions? What were thelr names

and state whether they were Issel, Kibel or Niseil and the names of the
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organizations to which they belonged?

Did you fear that if you gave "Yes" answers to thoge guestions that you
would have to stay in camp and be separated from your parents or other
family members who wsre to be deported to Japan because they were aliens
or because they had asked to be sent to Japan and you did not want to be
separated from them? ___ _ From what parent or family members did you fear

separat ion?

Did. you fear that if you gave "Yes" answers to those questions you eventu~-
ally would have to relocate in this country during the war and would be

in danger from hostile Caucasians?

Who told you that this might happen to you?

Did'you fear that if you gave "Yes" answers to those questions that it
would mean you might be drafted into military service where you would be
discriminated against or be persecuted by fellow soldiers or that you
might be used as cannon fodder just because you had Japanese ancestry? __

Who told you that this might happen to you?

!

Did you fear that if you gave "Yes" answers to those questions that you

might be attacked and harmed by groups of Issei, Kibei or Nisei in camp?

Neme the group and its leaders or members from whom you feared this

danger ?

Did you give "No" answers to those questions as a protest against the mis-
treatment of evacuation and confinement to a camp? __ .

Were you, or any member of your family, or any friend or anyone else at-
tacked by members of the pressure groups in that Center for showing loyal-
ty to the U, S.% - Or opposition to the pressure groups? RTORET . ey
giving "Yes" answers to Questions Nos. 27 and 287 ____ If so, state the

names of the persons who were attscked.

When were they attacked? . By whom were they attacked?




Did you then believec that if you gave a "No' answer to those gquestions
that you would be aillowed to stay in the Center for the duration of the
war and in this way you and your family would be free from danger of per=

secut ion by Caucaslans? _ Who told you this?

Did you give "No" answers to Question Nos, 27 and-@8 or refuse to answer
those questions because you had been iInformed by the WRA or understood
that because you already had applied for repatriation to Japan that you

did not have to answer those questions? . Who told you this?

Did you cver give a "Yes" answer to Question No, 277 ____; to Quest ion
No, 287 ____; Did you change your answer to Question No, 27 or 28 to "No"
at any time? ____ . Did you change your answer to Questions Nos. 27 and 28
to "No" or refuse to give "Yes" answers to those questions by July 31,
1943 because you knew that "No" asnswers or a refusal to answer those
quest ions would mean that you WOuld be sent to Tule Lake or be segregated
there with alien members of your family from whom you did not want to be

separated? ‘

When snd where did you first register for the draft? A7 5S4 CAR{(es
//'-,~ / A s
and e-as 7‘/0 4. odrafied Qn gﬁ Yoo A 7/,7'/7(/

What classification did you first receive? puf pemenherD1d yOU over roe-

ceive a 4-C (alien enemy) classification? Ao When did you receive that

40 ¢clasgification?

In what Center wers you when you recelved it?

Did you receive that 4-C clagsification before you answered the Army
Quest ionnaire in February or March of 1943 while you were in a WRA Center

or did you receive it afterward?

While you were in any WRA Center did you sign a petition sddressed to the
Attorney General, the President, the Army, the WRA or other governmental
agency or agent stating In substance that if you were freed and returned

to your home you would fight for the U. 5. and give your life 1f neces-

sary for this country? ##8 . In what Center were you at the time? [ bn']

tront. My A /'1[ f/{u were [ARen CAr & Py Jhe cdizeasS Jjfeangue [ may ARVE -
/ 7

’;,-},,,e_'a /° ¢ . kgl / /
Did you sign such a petition before you answered the Army Quest lonnaire

in February or March, 1943 or afterward? ___ Did you sign‘such a
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pet ition before you made a request for repatriation to Japan or afterward?
When were your parents first placed on the free list or notified

that they could be -relocated?

Were any other membirs of your family placed on the WRA free list for re-
locat ion purposes and, if so, who were they and when were they placed on

the free list?

Would you have been willing to swear unqualified allegiance to the U, S.
while you were in a WRA Center if the Government had allowed you to re=-
turn to your home asz a free citizen? ‘\/'r:g Would you have been willing to

LS j“‘“%‘l—“' a ‘{’*‘\L/ tfim &, wh En ﬂiT Akd‘ rh& Q"t"f,f‘:q‘t
the citizen members of your

return to your home alone? Yeg ; withou
family likewise being Ifreed from detention? ____ ; without the alien
members of your family also being freed? ____ . Would you have been will-
ing only if the Government would assure you that you would be relocated
safe from harm from Caucasians? _____; that the.citizen members of your
family would be relocated safs from harm? 3 and that the alien members
of your family wllling to return to their homes during the war if the
Government would allﬁw them? ____ Were they willing to be relocated else-
where in the U. S,? .

Did you keep in touch with your Local Draft Board while you were in a WRA

Center? ____ . Did you report to your Draft Board after you were released
L(r{‘.( ! ch«.vwikoy\_ﬂv\a b]'_ 4,5ch‘,p1‘_ / KT -

from camp? _+ To what Draft Board? (4 the (e¢serve Co Lhi 2= ( dedn't think pecoccery
7 r(;_"l"f' o (D\ L 0 day g /
When? _ After your release from camp did you volunt oot

for service in our armed forces? .D1d you ever served armed

forces? Yes . WnenMar i3,/24 —/7eh)2-/F#4 into what bra nch?

At e du 7‘/ ~// mos

A@M‘{ 3 what period of time did you serve? Z{)'I‘. 7 mos 5
/

where did you serve 2 Ch/liforn.a ; what was your socisl

number? 3709 4657 . Have you received an Honorable discharge

from such service? Z’g S __ 3 what is the date of that Discharge? _Qg, % (742

Re: MEMBERSHIP IN ORGANIZAT I2NS
50, (a) Did you ever sign a petition for resegrégation (Saikakuri Seigan) #
A4S mad¢ f'ﬂ B(./lts/g fo bc ﬁﬂﬁfe‘(
vhile in Tule Lake? Y&s 4t Fhat fime -Woer?

ey
(b) Were you at any time a member of (1) Sokoku Kenkyukai?

o o e T =

(2) Sokoku Kenkyvo Seinen Den? . (3) Ssokuji Kikoku Hoshi Dan?

ot T SeSEE S S R




L
_Yes_ _ (4) Hokoku Seinen Dan? _J&S (5) Hokoku Joshi Selnen

Pan® 18 .

When d1d you become a member? L A_g_ nol remem be

How long were you a member? _ CARARE s 4 [ate géga‘Ff)

When did you stop being a member?

In what Block did you live at the t ime you became a member? Lk, S5

ey

. D pel rememper
What was the name of your Bléck Manager? Jimmy ($)noZsyre of/q;ang_—_ﬁm

’,D"’,v’(. i

With whom d4id you share living quarters at the Tule Lake Center?

What organizat ions were active in that Block? _j4bs4, Lan

What was the full name of the organization you joined? frkeky DSernea pan

What were the names of the leaders of the organizations in your Block?
Ne [eadeirs . 09k block

Were your father? or mother? ____ or brothers? or sisters?

or father-inelaw? or mother-in-law? a member of any organiza=
t ion? Did they persuade you to become a member? What did they

gay to you to persuade you to become a member?

What other members of your family were members of the Hoshil Dan?

. Joshi Dan?

Seinen Dan?

Why did they become members?

In what Blocks were they living?

What are the names of the persons other than members of your family who
persuaded or threatened you into becoming a member and state whether such
persons were Igsel, Kibel or Nigeil and sfate the Blocks in which they

11V6d?,£&;g ggg’gg Z;;ich (;5,4? ': Qon ¥ Knsd 4o T #IK,

What did they tell you to persuade you to become a member?

What did they say would happen to you if you did not become a member?

What did you believe would happen to you if you did not become a member?
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What office, if any, 4id you hold in the organizat ion?

LS == S e S SR A=t

What duties did you perform?

Lo e =S = g g

How did you hecome an officer?

When did you become an officer?

From whom did you receive notice that you were an officer?

What dutles did you perform as an officer? _done

As a member did you attend any morning calisthenic exercises? Approxi=-

mately how often did you join in the caligthenics?

Did you attend any of the organization's lectures? Approximately how

many lectures did you attend? What was the nature of those lectures?

Did you participate in any of their marching demonstrat ions? if so,

how many?

Did you attend any other meetings of the organization? _. Where and how

often?

Did you tell anyons you wanted to drop membership? Ye< State the names

of the persons you told you wanted to drop membership, ;lﬁa!u /ﬁﬁtgggéhgz:

Did anybody warn you that you could not withdraw from membership?

Who gave you such g warning? (State their names, blocks, where they lived
and whether Issel, Kibei or Nigeil) _

ﬁ&gqy,ﬁpAani )

What did they tell you would happen if you dropped your membership or

tried to drop membership?

Had you learned that anyone who tried to drop membership had been

threatensd or had been beaten up for trying to drop memberaghip? Who,

if you know, was beaten for trying to do it?

What group d4id you hear was responsible for beating persons who tried to

withdraw from membership?

rspe e e i T AT R S R ST
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Were you in fear that you would be attacked and beaten up by members 1if
you tried to drop membershlp? Z&Q—. What groups did you fear might do

this? __

s ==

Were you told that If you tried to drop membership the or ranizat ion
would report this matter to the Japanese Government and that when jyou
were deported to Japan you would get in trouble with the Japanese Govern=-
ment ? .ﬁi Who told you this? [‘1/’1 Na.g:%fa_

Did you fear that if you dropped membership you would get In trouble with

the Japanese Government when you were deported to Japan? ’

Were you told that if you ’sr;'Led to drop membership the organizatién lead~
ers would report this matter to the Japanese Government and that your
alien parents would get in trouble with the Japanese Government when they
were sent to Japan for not beilng able to control your actions? ____ Who
told you this? (Staﬁe the names, blocks where they lived and whether

Issei, Kibei or Nisei)

Did you fear that 1f you d&ropped membership your parents who were to be

s ?
sent to Japan would get in trouble there? ___ .0”"‘ the [ast purt when 'Mey{o"c‘o()
Did you have your halr cut short or shaved? res Vmen?mg@ t¥hosanta Fe

did it? Did you wear any insignia of the organilzatlon and,

if so, what insignia? Ne

If you or any member of your family was placed in the "Stockade" at Tule

Lake Center state who was, for what period of time and for what reason

Aon €_

What was the nature of your employment and where did you work while you
were in Tule Lake? wamnehouse 4 then Time -clerk at mess ‘lg_ﬂ 33
:fi\,ﬂi\ ‘i‘O ’PKV"Y\ '

What were your working hours? ngk_'jo‘ﬁere you working while you were a

member of any orgsnization at Tule?/fmgseIn what block? _$§3 What were

the names of some of your fellow workers?

E e &\TO




14

63, Were you, or any member of your family, or any friend sttacked by any

members of any of the pressure groups &t Tule Lake? _ Who was? ___

When? : By whom?
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. Re: RKEQUESTS FOR FORMS UPON WHICH
TQ RENOUNCE C IT IZENSHIP
(a) In what Block did you live in the Tule Lake Center? _g/A. 4 3

(b) When did you send a letter to the Attorney General or the Just ice

Department asking for forms upon which to renounce your citizenship?

| ds nat e menber but thik dhe latfer pawt oF (744

orm of [erl€
Where did you get the forms? %@@,qu? (sttes fu‘t—l?jf'}

In what Center were you at that time? _Tul¢ Lelke. Block

Number 3 S.4

(Note: On December 19, 1944, General Pratt removed the ban on the
return of Japanese to fhe West Coast. On December 21, 1944, the

Newell Star, the Tule Lake Center newspaper, announced that all the
WRA camps would be closed in about one year, Notices of this also
may have been posted in the block manager's offices, the mess halls
and other places in camp,

Therefore, if you sent a letter to the Attorney General or the
Justice Department before December 21, 1944, asking for forms upon
which to renounce citizenship you probably were not then in fear of
the camp being closed and of being forced to relocate in a hostile
area without funds or a home to which you could go, If you sent such
a letter between December 21, 1944 and January 29, 1945, you probab-
ly were in fear of being relocated in such circumstances. On January
29, 1945, the WRA announced that Tule Lake would be kept open and
that there would not be any forced relocations., If you sent your
letter after January 29, 1945, the Justice Department will be inclin=-
ed to believe you were not then in actual fear of being forcibly re=-
located in a hostile area without funds or a home to which you could
go unless you convince it that you did not belleve the January 29,
1945, announcement that the Tule Lake Certer would be kept open and
that no one would be forced to relocate,)

Did you send that letter to the Attorney General or to the Justice Depart-
ment before that Decembsr 21, 1944 announcement that all the WEA Cent ers
would be closged within a year?‘L:Z=:f7rﬂ€§";€abgg;a it between December
21, 1944 and January 29, 1945% ____ .

Did you send it after the announcement of January 2 9, 1945, that the
Tule Lake Center would be kept open? pe gof rémewber~

If you sent in your letter to the Justice Department after the WRA's an-
nouncement of January 29, 1945, that the Tule Lake Center would be kept
open and that there would not be any forcible relocations you probably
did not send that letter requesting forms upon which to renounce your
citizenship by reason of fear that the Tule Lake Center would be closed
and that you and your family would be forced to relocate and therefore,

you should answer the following questions:

(a) From what source did you learn about that announcement of January 29,
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1945: In the Newell Star? _ __ ; from a notice on a bulletin board? ___

from the Block Manager? _____; from what other persons?

(b) Did you believe the announcement? ___ ., If not, state why you did

not believe the announcement,

(c) Did anyone tell you that you could not trust that announcement? _
If so, state who told you not to rely on that announcement and what they

sald to you to make you disbelieve it,

If the announcement of December 21, 1944, that all Centers would be clos=~
ed within a year and the announcement of January 29, 1945, that Tule Lake
Center would be kept open and there would not be any forcible relocat lons
did not have anything to do with your decision to renounce your citizen=
ship did you send the letter to the Justice Department asking for forms
upon which to renounce citizenship because of any of the following fears,
namely: (a) fear of separation from alien members of your family, such
as father? ____ mother? ____ father=in<law? mot her=-in=law? ____ stop
~father? ____ step-mother? ___ _ other aliens? ____ who you bellieved were
to be deported to Japan? ___; (b) fear of being separated from citizen
members of your famlly, such as your wife? ____ husband? ____ children?
who you believed would have to relocate in the U. S.7 _____ or who
you belleved would be deported to Japan? ____; (¢) fear of being deported
yourself because you had given negative answers to Questions Nog, 27 or
£8 and were considered a disloyal person? ____ 3 (d) fear of treat or harm
to yourself? __ _ or your wife? __ _ or husband? ____  or children?
or mother? ____ or father? ____ or other members? ____ of your family from

gangs in the Center? 3 (e) fear of mistreatment or physical harm from

the Government or 1its agents?

Did the announcement of December 21, 1944, that all the WRA Centers would
be closed within a year cause you to send that letter to the Justice De=
partment ? Did you read that announcement in the Newell Star? __ _;

from a bulletin board? 5 or learn about it from the Block Manager?

3 or from other persons and, if so, name the persons:




1t
Did you send the letter to the Justice Department asking for forms upon
which to renounce your cifizenship because you feared that December 21.
1944, announcement mesnt that you end the citizen members of your family
would be forcibly relocated without money, a home or job in en ares waero

elw“éhlz%bOP10 were hostlle 1o Japanese while the war still was going on unless
you renounced your citizenship? __  Were you afraid of being relocated
bacause you had hearc that jobs wers scarce? 3 that emplyers did nof
wish to hire Japanese asnd that you might not get work to support yourself
and your family? _ : that the public was hostile to Japanese and you

feared mob violence? ___ . If you had been forcibly relocated what mon-

berg of your family would you then have had to support?

P CHSRS S U

llad you heard of any relocated persons being discriminate

refused work? ;5 belng insulted? being attacked?

&

gshot at? _ ; being persecuted? ; whose homes had been burned? _ _

gy

When and where had these incidents taken place?

D s s S e

e s

What were the names of the pPersons who had been mistreatod and state whas

it was that happened to them,

ST s T ]

70, Did you send that letter because you belleved that if you sent for ths
forms and renounced your cltizenship that you would be interned by the
Justice Department and coulg sfay In camp unt il the war ended and then be
safely relocated when public hostllity to Japanese died down? ___ . Who

told you that this could be done?

SRR 3k 3 e o e e o o P e LS SO S 1) U W |

7l. DIid any members of your family fear or tsll you that you would bs

13
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relocated and run the risk of danger from hostile Caucasians unless you
sent that letter and renounced your civlzenship and, if so, what members

of your family told you this?

/ FR ° °
(a) State what members of your famlly were in fear of what might happen %o

you or to them If you did not send such a letter and, 1f so, state of

what or of whom they were in fear?




72,

)

that time?

(b) In what Blocks were cach of yo amily membars

Did you fear that i1 you did not send the letter and request forms upon
which to renounce ycur citizenship that you would be separated from ali-

en members of your Iiamily? 3 and, if so, from what alien members?

ey <z = =

or frowm citizen memhera? and if so, from what citizen members of

v

your family?

B Sl gaghan

— = . =y C o

Nare the members of your femily who told you that you would bhe separated
from your family if you did not send for the forms and renounce your

citizenship?

o e

Name other persons, not members of your family, who told you that you
would be separated from your family if you did not send for the forms
renounce your citizenship and state whether they were Isseil, Kibei or

Nisei and the Blocks where they lived,

What members of your family (wife, husband, children, father, mother,
brother, sisters, father-in-law, mother=in~law) were ir the Tule Lake

Center at the time you gent that letter to the Justice Department ?

e e

LoE o

What members of your family pressured, threatensd or

gend that letter?

==

- et —

What 4id they fear or sa y to you to get you to send

ey =)

Did your husband? wife? father? .. mother? ____ brothers?

sisters? in-laws? __ __ force you to send a letter requesting
forms on which to renounce your citizenship so that you wouldn't be

separated from them by being forced to relocate while they remained in

camp or finally were deported to Japan? If such person or persons were




citizens of the U. S. state whether they already had sent for forms upon

which t o renounce their citizenship?

L - e e

What did such person or persons say to you to force you to renounce your

citizenshlp? ___

et S ey e RIET

Did you send that letter requesting forms upon which to renounce citizen=

ghip because you heard that allen members of your family who had regquest=-

od repatriation to Japan would have to stay In the Center until they
could be exchanged or removed to Japan and that you ult imately would have
to be relocated in this country and thus be separated from them unless
you applisd for renuncilation? _ Name the persons who told you this
might happen if you didn't renounce your cit izenship and state whether

‘they were Issei, Kibei or Nisel and the Blocks where they lived

What alien members of your family already had asked for repatriation to

Japan at the time you sent that letter?

Were tho alien members of your family.on the WRA free list and eligible
to relocate at the time you sent your letter to the Justice Department

asking for forms upon which to renounce your citizenship?

e = _

Did you fear that if you didn't send for the forms and didn't renounce

your citizenéhip thet you, nevertheless, would be deported to Jaban along

with the alien members of your family because you had asked for repatria=-
tion to Japan and that you would get In trouble with the Japanese govern-
ment when you arrived there? _____ Name the persons who told you this and
state whether they were Issei, Kibel, Nisel, the Blocks where they lived

and the organizat ions of which they were members,

Did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your citizenshilp
because you belileved your life was being frittered away uselessly in camp?
i ?hat you feared that you might be confined to camp until the war

ended? ___; which might take many years? ____ or that if the war did not

come to an end you would be kept in camp forever? or that when and

Py
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1f the war ended the Government might deport you to Japan? _ and that

you want ed to get away from camp life? . and feared that you had to go

or bs sent somewhere or anywhere, even to Japan, just so long as you ware

made g free man? o

Did you send a letter to the Justice Department asking for the forms

upon which to renounce because you were afréid that the Government had

no use for you and didn't care what happened to you and that you were

afraid this was true because it had deprived you of citizenship rights

by evacuating you and putting you into a WRA Center behind barbed wires

and then had armed troops guard you? e’ and then didn't gilve you any »

protection in the Tule Lake Center from the threats and violence of gangs?

5 and because the police didn't give any protection to the residents?

s 8nd you were scared by the soldiers moving In and driving the re-

sidents around and fgearching their quarters? .5 and no protection was

given against such things as the murder of Mr, Hitomi, the knifing of Mr.

Terasawa and others, and the clubbing and beatings of many persons; and

that the Government didn't punish the soldier who shot Mr, Okamoto? i

and that you thought these things clearly meant the Government had no use

for you and didn't want to give you any protection and that, to avoid all

this violence and trouble, you had to renounce citizenship to insure your

own safety? ____ and the safety of your wife® . sthusband? v Fathew
s OGhex? ., childnen? et EROLRaRa DL g a T abared s n@thep

members of your family? __ .

Did you decide to send the letter asking for forms upon which to rencunce

your clitizenship because you feared that you were going to be deported to

Japan because you had given "No" answers to Questions Nos, 27 and 28 or

had refused to answer those questions and were considered disloyal to the

U. S. and that it was necessary for you to send that letter to the Justice

Department and renounce your citizenship otherwise you would get in

trouble when you arrived in Japan? lg;:. What trouble did you think you

would get inio in Japan if you didn't renounce U. S. cltizenship? [_was ZL/J

j"\%ﬁi&g&wgﬂg&w

State what members of your family told you this,

Nams the Issei, Kibel and Nisel who told you this and state in what Blocks
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they lived at Tule Laxe and the name of any organizat ions to which they

belonged __

Did you fear that if you didn't send for the forms and renounce your
cltizenship that you eventually might be drafted into our armed forces
while you were in the Center and thus be separated from your citizen wife?
s cit izen children? .5 or other citlzen members of your family?
i who were In the Center? ___, Did you fear that if you didn't send
for the forms and renounce citizenship that you eventually would be re-
located and then might be drafted into our armed forces and then be sepa=
rated from your wife? ____, children? ____, other family members?

who would have relocated with you? Who told you these things might happen

i1f you dldn't renounce your citizenship?

Did you fear that if you didn't send for the forms and renounce your cit ie
zenship that you eventually might be drafted into the army while you were
in the Center or after you were forcibly relocated which would result in
separat ing you from alien members of your family who were to be sent to
Japan because they had asked for repatriation to Japan and wanted to go
there? ____ or because they belleved they would be deported to Japan after
the war ended because they feared the Government intended to deport all

alien Japanese to Jepan? o Who told you this would happen¢?

oo — L

Did your alien parents fsar that if you didn't send for the forms and

renounce your citizenship that you eventually might be drafted into the
army and be separated from them when they were sent to Japan? R r s

they tell you this? . Name other persons who told you this,

Did your parents fear that if you served in the armed forces that they
would get in trouble with the Japansese Government when they arrived in

Japan? . Did they tell you this? ____ . Name other persons who told

you this,

Did any person or persons or group of persons tell you or spread the
rumor that If you didn't send for the form and renounce your citizenship

you would get into trouble with the Japanese government when you were
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deported to Japan? ___ . Name the persons who told you these things, the
Blocks where they lived and the organizations to which they belonged, and

whether they were Issel, Kibel or lNisel,

= == S e e s e =

Name the other members of your family whom you believed would get in
trouble there if you didn't renounce your cit izenship and state whether

they were in the Center with you. _

If any members of your family were in Japan at the time, did Yyou fear
that they might be punished by the Japanese government if it learned that
you d1d not renounce your U. S. citizenship? ____ . What members of your

family there did you fear might get in guch trouble?

o

With what agents of Japan did you think you or your famlly members would

get in trouble if you did not renounce your citizenship?

e == o= P

(The Japanese police? ___; Kempeitai? ____; Army? ___; Ngighborhood

Associat lons? : other agencies?

What did you fear would happen to you or to them? _

Did you believe that you or they would be put in prison? ; internment
camp? ____3 be forced to work as slave laborers? __ _; or what else did

you fear would happen to you or to them?

If anyone else told you to send that letter, name the persons who did and
state whether they were Issei, Kibei or Nisei and the Blocks in which

they lived or where they worked at Tule Lake Center, and state the names

of the organizations of which they were members.

What did they tell you would happen to you if you didn't send that letter?

o o sm=seae s e e

Were those persons leaders or members of any of the organizations in Tule

Lake, and, if so, state the names of the organlizations,




Who were the Issel leaders of those organizations and in what Blocks did

they live?

e e

The Kibel leaders and Blocks where they lived?

The Nisei leaders and Blocks where they lived?

Were any groups of leaders or members of the Seinen Dan or Hoshi Dan mov=

ldb‘sg!@m¢n‘0r~’
ed away to Santa Fe before you sent in that letter? s0, what

groups?

Were any groups of leaders or members of the Seinen Dan or Hoshi Dan re=~
moved to Santa Fe before you sent in that letter? « If so, what

groups?

(Note, The first group of 70 Issei and citizens belonging to the Hokoku

Seinen Dan were taken away to Santa Fe on December 27, 1944, Renunciab=
ion hearings started on January 11, 1945, The next group of 144 citizens
and 27 aliens, including 50 officers of the Hokoku Seinen Dan, was taken
to Santa Fe on January 26, 1945, "The next group of gbout 650 membens of.
the Hokoku Seinen Dan was jremoved to Bismarck on February ll, 1945, The
next group of 125 persons was taken to Santa Fe on March 12, 1945, Abouk
June, 1945, some 400 more were removed to Santa Fe and in July, 1945h 8-
'few more were taken to Bismarck, Therefore, if you had your hearing'after
these groups had been removed you were not in fear of them at that time,)
Were you in fear that if you didn't send for the forms and renounce your
cit izenship that your name would be put on the organization's blackelist
and would be reported to the Japanese government and you would get in
trouble with the Japanese government when you arrived in Japan% e Who

told you this would happen? _

State whether they were Issel, Kibel or Nsel, the Blocks where they then

were living and the organization to which belonged.




Were you In fear of the loaders of any of the organizations at Tule?

Were you in fear of'the members of any of the organizations? e QP

what organizations were you in fear?

e "y

of what leaders were you in fear? (State the blocks where they?liﬁe&?
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of what members were you in fear? (State the Blocks where they lived)

e e

Why were you in fear? ___

e

Were any other members of your family in fear of them or their organizate
lons and, if so, state the mames of your family members who were in feap

of t hem¥¢

If you or any member of your family or any friends were attacked by any
of the leaders or members of any of the pressure groups for not doing
what the pressure group leaders wanted gtate the names of the persons who

were atteoked, the t ime and place whare attacked and by whom, _

L tecte =
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Were you in fear of being attacked and beaten up by them or thelr organize
atlons if you d4id not send for the forms and renounce your citizenship?
Had any of t hem threatened you? o If #o, what were their names

end stato what they said to FOoU,

= e .

Were you in fear that menmbers of your family might be attacked and phys ie
eally harmed 1f you did not send that letter, and, If so, state what

members of your family you fenred might be harmed by them,

Were you in fear that if you did not send that letter that you might be
harmed by the lesders or members of any of the following organizat iong,
nemely: Hoshl Dan? ____; Seinen Dan? ___ 3 Joshl Dan? enees ) Manzanap
gang? ___; the Poston gang? 3 Jerome gang? ____ 3 San Pedro gang?

5 the Tiger gang? .5 The Black Dragon Society gang? or other




25
gangs? ____; or strong arm groups? - Name the leaders, members,

groups or gangs of which you were in fear,

o

While you were in Tule were you ever called an inu? - -

B ERO0OZOTY - ¢ cancdnformep? ; a White Jap? 5 a traitor?

kokuzoku? 5 or other names? _____, for not doing what the organizge

"

tions wanted you to do? . What names were you called?

o

Were you in fear of being called such names? . What were the names

of the porsons who called you such names? __

How many persons called on you or spoke to you and asked you if you had
sent for the forms upon which to renounce your citizenship? « What

were thelr names?

e - - o e - St

Did anyone check up on your mail in the block manager's office to sees
whether or not you had sent such a letter or had rsceived an answer ing
letter from the Justice Department ? . State the names of the persons

who checked up on you in this manner,

Did anyone t ake down your name as being & person who did not send such a
form or was late in sending for such a form? _ . State the names of

the persons who did this and whether they were Issei, Kibel or Nisei:

Were any members of your family or friends attacked, beaten or threatened
for not sending for the forms? _ » Name the persons who were attacked

or beaten,

Were you ostracized for not sending’ in such a letter PrompbLye -t Did

friends shun or avoid you or refuse to talk to you bscause you had not

gsent for the forms? s . Was your spouse? 5 your children? £

or other members of your family? mistreated for your delay in sending

such a letter? » What mistreatment did they suffer and from whom?

A T T R T L e e
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While you were in a WRA Center did the U. S, Immigration Service commence
any deportation proceeding agalnst your husband? ____; wife? ____ 3
father? __ ; mother? ____ , for violation of any immigration law? Did
you fear that the member of your family against whom deportat ion proceed-
irigs had been started would be deported from the U, 8. to Japan because
guch person was i'llegally in the U. 8.2 ____ . Did you fear separation

from such person end did the fear that such person would be deported

cause you to apply for the forms upon which to renounce cit izenship so

that you would not be separated from such person? .

(=2 =

Re: RENUNCIATION HEARING
Name the mebers of your family besides you who had a hearing on an appli-
cation for renunciat ion of citizenship, Husband? 3 wife? rg S

brothers? ;5 sisters? _ ; other family members?

= ]

Did you have your hearing before the renunclation of your wife?
husband ? 3 brothers? or sisters? . Did you have it on the

same day as your wife? lég 3 husband? . On what date did you have

your renunclation hearing? fo pelfemem bg_,_g. Was your hearing officer a
mamy ool e womant? \/g,;;. Did you have an interpreter at your hearingg
] <X preSS
NQO . Did you need one? (FeEls Besause [ can undestand buf Cowlda <X pre
'/)'\)/)Q‘t\ L“C‘\“(/
102, At your renuncistion hearing did you tell the hearing officer that you
wanted to renounce because you were loyal to Japan, or that you wanbted
Japan to win the war, or that you were against the U. S. or make other
statements indicating loyalty to Japan or disloyalty to the U. 5.7 ' "'\“.7 Np ha

e=x=meeems v

What , in substance, did you tell the hearing officer as reasons why you

wanted to renounce your cltizenship? Al[ apround Fhe Comp ye Were,
v

fbid ot e m_!l‘_uL_J .0 ,TO Sa 3] “ l s e wWewn'l pe able s

[.Q'l“{’\ G and- ,grlemwdc L,u(’//z be on f’ﬁp,é/d_z

Name the persons who coached you and told you what you were to say atb
your hearing to make cerftalin your renunciation would be approved and state

whether they were Issel, Kibel or Nisel and the blocks where they lived.
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103, Did the hearing officer tell you that you did not have to renounce your
citizenship in order to go to Japan?léggﬂ. Did you belleve this? _ F

Were you in fear of the hearing officer? s+ Why?

ey e

G
Nww*;thDid you fear to tell the hearing officer the real reasons why you were

renouncing your citizenship? ____ . What did you think would happen £ >

you had told him the real reasons?

104, Did you fear that 1if you did and your renunc iat ion was not accepted that
you would get in trouble with your parents? __ : other family members?
: who were in Tule Lake? ; or in some other internment camp?

Were you then in fear of being forcibly relocated In

a dangerous area? ____ (If your hearing took place after the January 29,
1945, announcement were you gtlll 1n fear of eventual relocation in a
hostile area? ____) Were you then in fear of being drafted? ___ . Were
you in fear of separation from members of youf family? . From what

members?

e e

Were they in Tule Lake? C3 T OELIK what other Center?

Were they on the WRA "free list" and eligible for relocation at the t ime ?
_____. Had they applled for relocation before the day you had your re-
nunc iat ion hearing? . Were they stlll expecting %o be sent to Japan?
____+ Did they still want to go to Japan? ____ . Had they cancelled
their applications to go to Japan? .

105, Were you in fear that if your renunciation was not accepted you would be
in danger of harm from any of.the leaders or members of a ny of t he pre-
ssure groups at the time you had your renunciation hearing? ;g;;. Had
tho leaders or members been removed to other camps at the © ime you had
your hearing? ____. Were some leaders and membsrs still in camp at the

time you had your hearing? Y& S_. What were the names of those who were

stidll Iin camp?

3 el your BTN oo

Were you in fear of them?

106, Were you romoved from Tule Lake Center to Bismarck? ____;




Abo“r f}f\L 51.(111.\_1\, [ “f 28
When? [7£5 Secead fothe fasf-arvip With what groups: the lst, 2nd, 3rd or

4th groups? __ 3 °4 imeemee®  What members of your family remained at

=2

S

Tule Lake? p.il_fgmr)_g,g- g e hi /d

What other members of your family were removed from Tule Lake Center to

Bismarck? Nnon €

to Santa Fe? _Ap,. o When?

Sy

Were they removed from Tule Lake before you had your renunciation hear-

dng® L lor after yal hgd your hearing at Tule Lake? i

State when and where you were re-united with them, _

Name the other memters of your famlly who renounced citizenship,

Lo et

Did you give such answers because other members of your family had been
removed from Tule Lake and you thought that by éo doing you would be re-
united with them? eemwe* Did you fear that those family members would be
deported t o Japan and that if you gave such answers you would be re=united
with them and be deported along with them? DY)

(a) If you applied for relocation in the U. §. after your renunciation

state when you did so, 5 .

o e e o S e R

(b) Did you write a letter to the Attorney General or Justice Department

asking to cancel your renumc latlonh? When? In what
o | ey

Cent er were you living when you wrote that letter?

Re: MITIGATION HEARING

| don%/ remember havmq M,T\ﬁqhoﬂ kﬂurm]

Did you have a "mit igation hearing" between December, 1945, and April,

1046 % » In what Center did you have this hearing?

- Was your hearing officer a man? 5 a woman?

At this hearing did you tell the hearing officer that you were loyal to
Japan or disloyal to the U. S. or words to such an effect? _ + If you

did, state why you did this,
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What members of your family were wich you in the same Center at the % ime
of thls hearing? (spouse, father, mother, children, brothers, sisters,

father in law, mother in law)

From what members of your family were you then separated?

Where were those members of your family at the time of your mitigation

hearing? .

s = s e e

Were they then on the WRA or Justice Department free list angd eligible

for relocation? _ . Had they relocated? ___ . If they had, state when.

Did &ou then fear that members of your family in other camps were to be
deported to Japan? _ . Was it because of your fear that those members
were to be deported to Japan that you gave such answers to %he mit igat lon
hearing officer so that you would be allowed to rejoin those members and
not be separated any longer from them?gnmn;.

What members of your family, if any, were removed Lo other internment

camps after you had your renunciation hearing?

When and where were you re-united with them?

When were you released from detent ton?

what camp were you when you were released from detention?

If any of your family members were sent to Japan, state when they sailed
Liiv . Japes s Do C L 2 N S TAMS From what port
did they sail? g@ ' 125§ Deec . What other members of

v Yon| i)rxv{nf\

your family went to Japan? _ww v child

When were you placed on the "free list"%
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vour parents, spousa or other family members were placed on the free list,

state waen they were placed on that list and the camp from which they

relocated.

“tate the name of any person in your family who has served or is serving

‘n the Armed Forcas of the Unitod States and the branch of service,

| [ =
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rolat ion shir of such person to you

Serisl Number cf such person

. I i
1 verson received sn Honorable Discharge? )e>

"9 @vacle 1, or while you were in an Assembly Center or War Re=
location Center gnv nerson {(Jaucaslan or other) threatened, warned or

advised you againgt returning to your home or against relocat ing, state

the names of such persons and their addresses?

When were auch threats, wernings or advice made or given to you?

Yoear e Mont h

Where were you at the time?

Were the threats, warnings or advice verbal or in letters?

Were any members of your family threatened, warned or advised against

leaving camp, relocating to their homes?

Name ths family members and specify their relationship to you.

Heve you ever secrved in the armed forces of the U. S.7 S/g.§
A<five //nu

In what branch?% ﬁgmié . When? LZ%[»— /2%2\.Per10d of service é;ganga.,

. VWhera 41id you serve? <‘a,/4191“n, A Date you recsiv~

ed an Honorable Discharge? pDec, 3/ /7¥2_ Serial No, 32c0 ¥/ 57

What other members of your family (father, children, brothers or slgters)

served Iin the armed forceg of the U. S.

State thelr names, relationship and branch of the armed forces in which

they served or are serving,
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Since returning to Japan in 1946 have you voted In any elect ions? 420

. Where? Years you

=D

vot ed? What elections? .

Why did you wote in those elections?

What Allied military officers told you to vote?

What were you told would happen to you if you didn't vote?

What Japanese officials told you to vote?

What neighborhood association told you to vote?

State the names and addresses of the néighbors who told you to vote?

What were you told would happento you if you didn't vote? _

What did you believe or fear would happen to you if you didn't vote?

Since returning to Japan in 1946 has your name been registered in any

family Koseki? Ao When (what year)

Where?

Did you personslly apply to be reglstered in a Koseki?

Where did you go to be regilstered? ‘When?

Why did you go to be registered?

If someone other than you personally reglstered your name in a Kosekil

gtate who it was who reglstered you.

What relation is that person to you? vaerT>

Why were you registered in a Koseki since returning to Japan in 19467 :
A7

What caused you to be registered in a Kosekl since 1946°%

Were you registered in a Kosekl since returning to Japan in 1946 hecause
if you were not reglstered you would not have been glven a ration card?

or would not have been given an address to




recelve mall® = % QY - Bvail __ or would have been

punished, and, 1f so, by whcm? SR, and why?

== = e e o =mesrres: L =

Were you registered bsecause of fear that if you weren't you would suffer

in some- form?.__ T .. such as would not be issued a ration card?

29

or for what other reasons?

Have yvou, since returning to Japan in 1946 been naturalized as a Japanese

citizen? _AX)O « If so, what gbteps did you take to become natu-

ralized as a Japanesge cltizen?

S = =

Have you, since returning tc Japan been employed by the Japanese Governs

4
ment or any agency of the Japanese Government? AL

If so, name the office by which you were employed and the dates of your

employment ?

— e R cgmes

Have you worked for the United States Covernment or Allied military authe

orities while in Japan? __,6’0 For what service?

In what capacity? _ Where did you perform your

work? Dates of your employment?

(o

What is your occupation now? Aurscry warket—  Where? Palo ALfo Califs

PRI

What property do you own im Japan? Wh,e

Nature of property?

Est imated valuation of that property?

Name of your nearest relative in the U, 8. and address.

To what address do you intend to return to in the U. S.

= = e

(Attach all the documents and Letbers you have relating to your renunc ig=
tion of U. 8. citizenship.)
Have you filed an sgpplication with a U. &. Consul in Japan for a U. §.

Passport? . When did you file it®

(Attach a copy of the affidsvit you filed with the U, S. Consul which

explained why you reiounced U. S. citizenship.)
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What reasons did the U. 8. Consul give you for refusing to lssue you a

passport ?

s EPp—

(Attach the letter o:> refusal the U, S. Consul sent to you,)

Have you registered as on allens in Japan? _

Where? /&';

Signature

Address

Telephone Number
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REASON FOR REPATREATION

AT the Topaz Relocation Center a nimber of Issei group were agitating

for repatriation. They attacked many people for speaking out against them
and for not obeying their wishes., Mr., Obata and Reverend Goto and others

werw beaten by these gangs for refusing to apply for repatriation. The
W.R.A. took Mr., Obata to a hospital outside the camp because of fear he might
be attacked and killed while in bed if he was put in the camp hospital, I
was living in bachelor's quarters in Block 7-7-8. My roommates were the

two Suehiro brothers and Akira Tamura. The younger Suehiro's first name

was Yoneo. I do not remember the elder brother's first name. Akira

Tomura was an army veteran as I was. While all the agitation was going on

my roommates and I spoke against the agitators. One day while I was é:iﬁggiak

a shower in the public shower room in the block the older Suehiro brother was
beaten with clubs by a gang of $ or 6 Issei and Nisei for expressing loyalty

to the United States and opposition th the gang's agitation in favor of re-
patrizhion and for refusing to aocply for repatriation. A Kibei who lived
in the next apartment found him lying unconscious under the bed and bleeking
and had him taken to tje camp hospital. When I got to the apartment I saw
the blood stains on the floor. I visited him in the hospital. He had been
badly beaten and stayed several days in the hospital and later was given
living quarters in another section o f the camp. He told me the gang had
turned off the lights and then attacked and beat him with clubs, that a
neighbor next door heard the commotion and opened the door to see what was
going on and then the attackers jumped out the window and escaped.

During this time the small internal securitu police force was not able to
pro;z:z/ﬁs. After Suehiro was attacked some armed soldiers were called in
to d the Block but left in a few hours.

In the messhall in Block 7, Barracks 7, my roommates and I were fefused
adequate coal supplies for our room in the barracks by the Block Manager
because we wouldn't apply for repatriation., I was working in the WRA

commissary warehouse and usually got off work late in the evening and then
the Issei chief cook in the messhall would refuse to give me andy meals

for the same reasons and the only place I could get anything to eat was in
Block 35 where the man who became my father-in-law would get me some food,
Akira Tamura was in the same fix. Frequently he and I would go to Dr,

Murata who would get us some food, Even after I gave No answers to cuestions
27 and 28 I was treated the same way because I was suspected of being a

sﬁy against them because I was a veteran and had made statements against
them. I got the same treatment until I was married on August 31, 1943 and




moved with my wife to apt. 7B in Block 33. I_hed—be-euit—several—jobei—hed—

They group calling themselves the "Kokuryukai"@ Black Dragon Society)
led by a big Issei sumotori wrestler had many members in Topaz and other
pressure groups were gaititing in Topaz for repatriation. Another group
from Hawaii was in control in Block 1, commissary warehouse.

Also we returned from our fobs in the evening people in our bleck and

Block 1 could call us inu and Kokuzoku (tzaitors) and government spies.

I was in comstant danger from these Issei pressure gangs because I was 2
veteran and had spoken against them and expressed loyalty to the United State
The small internal security police force was unable to prevent these threats
and attacks. After Suehiro was beaten things got to be dangerous and I

knew what would happen to me if I didn't apply for expatriation so I signed
the form,

After Suehiro was beaten I received a letter foom my parents, my father
actually doing the writing, through the Red Cross, saying that my eldest
brother had been forced to become an interpreter by the Japanese army and
my younger brother had been conscripted into the Japanese air force and he
w.s afraid they would lose their lives in the war., So there was nobody to
look after my parents. So I was afraid my brothers would be kikled in the
war and my parents would be left alone with no one to care for them in
their odbd age. If I was to be kept in camp for the duration unless I was
deported: to Japan before the war ended I thought I better be sent to
Japan bex where I could take care of them instead of rotting in camp.

Altbough I was a U.S. citizen 2nd had served in the Army and was let
out because I was a Japanese-American and got an honorable discharge and
was in the reserve corps, nevertheless I still was treated just like an
enemy and was put in a relocation center because I wzs a Kibel with parents a
‘and brpthers in Japan, So Ithought, like everybody said, I would be deported
to Japan because no Kibei waw allowed to leave camp and even if I could get
permission to leave I was afraid that I would be beaten or killed in camp
or cast outside from the center where I would be worgde off as peoplr eoulf
get to know my bpoothers were in the Japanese army and air force., It was
the general talk at Topaz that if we were to be relocated we wouldn't get
any police protection from att cks by white Americans. I w:s of the belief
I probably would be beaten or killed like I heard happened to others if I

ever got let out of camp.
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AFFIDAVIT

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE PREPARATION OF AFFIDAVIT

This affidavit should be specifically addressed to the circumstances of your particular case and should not consist of generalities. When
you are uncertain as to matters related in your affidavit write “uncertain”. Where you claim that any action was taken by you as the result of
fear, you should state in each instance, with the greatest possible particularity, what was feared and why. If it is claimed that the fears were
caused by threats from individuals or groups of individuals, the nature of the threats, the names of the individuals making them, if known,
and the time, place and occasion for the making of the threats should be given.

If more space is needed for answers to particular questions, separate sheets of plain white paper should be used. Each separate sheet so
used should be plainly marked with the number of the question being answered and your name.

1. Name Date of Birth
Takashi Fumoto March 5, 1918

2. If born prior to Decem!?er 1,1924 | (A) Have you ever renounced Japanese When Where
M v pa rents negis Hred natxonahty? No

it right after my blr%h and when T found I had dual citizen ship I didlnot

1 think It necessd
1
ﬂqmrnesrnlng:e ecember 1, 1924

(A) Was your name ever registered with a Japanese Consulate for the purpose of reserving your Japanese
nationality?

If so, did you thereafter renounce your Japanese When
nationality?

4. State periods of visits to Japan and purpose of each visit:

Date Purpose

v

[
Accompaned parents

2.

5. Give details concerning any formal education in Japan:

School Period of Attendance

L - P To
Ochigl Grezmmexr School

Metsumoto Commerciel School

Specify subjects studied (attach additional sheet if necessary).

phcatlon for re atriation to J apan? Gl T and your reasons for so
jes forced to sig press s Znd by so d e T would be
-~ 3= .~ *r o -~ - § ! ~ “"" %

When I }Be’?“

vy m 1314ﬂ%ﬁ:‘“:t"

7. (A) Have you ever expressly indicated that yoq.,,uodﬂ%: swear unqua.lxﬁed Have you ever declined to answer when asked whether you

allegiance to the United States? would swear unqualified allegiance?
Y es
Y )

Or have you ever given a
T i a]
bf AI1S
of

(B) If your answer to any of the questions in (A) is affirmative, then did you ever subsequently change your mind and express your willingness
to swear an unqualified allegiance or would you have been willing to do so if an opportunity had been afforded you? If so, state
when you changed your mind and your reasons therefor:

I would have been willing to do 2t my family end I could heve

“uLOCchd in U.S. without fear and have eg eht other citizens.
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(C) Did you ever indicate that you would not swear unqualified allegiance to the United States either expressly or by refusal to answer, or a quali-
fied answer, knowing that by so doing you would be sent to the WRA Segregation Center at Tule Lake?..... G5 .. If so, give reasons:

Made to believe final deportation I' did so because' T wanted my £

8. (A) Period of.
WERE YOU EVER AT ANY TIME A MEMBER OF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ORGANIZATIONS: Membership

Black Dragon Society (Kokuryu Kai)

Central Japanese Association (Beikoku Chuo Nipponjin Kai)

Central Japanese Association of Southern California

Dai Nippon Butoku Kai (Military Virtue Society of Japan or Military Art Society of Japan) (Hokubei Kai)

Heimuska Kai, also known as Hokubei Heieki Gimusha Kai Zaijbei Nihonjin, Heiyaku Gimusha Kai, and

Zaibei Heimusha Kai (Japanese residing in American Military Conscripts Assoc.) Heimusha Kai

Hinode Kai (Imperial Japanese Reservists)

Hinomaru Kai (Rising Sun Flag Society—a Group of Japanese War Veterans)

Hokubei Zaigo Shoko Dan (North American Reserve Officers Association)

Japanese Association of America (Zaibei Nihonjin Kai)

Japanese Overseas Central Society (Kaigai Dobo Chuo Kai)

Japanese Overseas Convention, Tokyo, Japan, 1940

Japanese Protective Association (Recruiting Organization)

Jikyoku Iin Kai (Current Affairs Association)

Kibei Seinen Kai (Association of U. S. Citizens of Japanese Ancestry who have returned to America after
studying in Japan)

Nanka Teikoku Gunyudan (Imperial Military Friends Group or Southern California War Veterans)

Nichibei Kogyo Kaisha (The Great Fujii Theatre)

Northwest Japanese Association

Sakura Kai (Patriotic Society or Cherry Association—composed of Veterans of Russo-Japanese War)
(Cherry Blossom Society)

Shinto Temples

Sokoku Kai (Fatherland Society)

Suiko Sha (Reserve Officers Association Los Angeles)

Hokoku Seinen-Dan

Hokoku Joshi Seinen-Dan

Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen-Dan

Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan

(B) Give reasons for becoming a_member:

I was led into becomin=—a

il

S T
a ofuce a ter e offite

1€ q,u. © Wwas removed from Tule.

ors was all g vv some’ of ficer ne me becau there were on ew left. .
J DEC $o15 8 Y ,Lu\T left,
(Q“/ 1A Dwmrrved // At ut ( M u%w_,w? 2'2:43

(D) If you voluntarily diicontinued menibership in any of the aforementioned organizations, give approximate date and reasons for so doing:




declined to enswer the question
. and heve served in the U.S. Army
fice several times to write a "Yes? or
I dic nswdr this but since in
forced by roundin~ and they had their ey
the safe side I finslly wpote "No*.

ta 3
to the
to. the

( b
|

.
of
%

1

We S

2llegiance
I t was called in
"No"  answer,
U.5, Army onee, I was being
so in order to be on

(E) If, after approval, you requested the Attorney
reasons for the‘delay in making such request:

General to withdraw his approval of your renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the

I did not know I could meke & request for cancellation until, after I céme to Japan.

I wrote to Mr.

Collins and asked to he included in the n

1ass suit




R = ——C

R S N A P—
(E) If you claim that your membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, your activities therein, or your acceptance of an office was
due to misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization, explain fully:

A1l the left over members we

re e
ward there were only. about 6 left and we were sent-to Sante Fe in last
1945, _ '

e elected as officers &nd had to accept it.. In out
e group in June

(F) If you at any time wished to discontinue membership, activity, or office and were prevented from so doing, explain fully:
F

-

was forced to continue membership and to insure safgty I could not discontinue.

9. (A) When did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your United States citizenship?
Give reasons for so doing: -

it Tule Lake
Believing that if

we can not be accepted as citizen T 1T r to our family upon
relocating and when deported,®y the constant frightness of the pressure groups, and
could not think normally.

(B) If reasons given in answer to preceding question differ from reasons given to officer who held renunciation hearing, give your explanation
for difference: :

I was taught to sey that I'm Japenese so I am renountinz and that was all.

(C) If you claim that your renunciation was caused by fear, you should explain fully why such fear extended from the time of the application for
renunciation papers until the date of actual renunciation:

Thinking that I will be deported I feared I have to renounce in order to have
familyy security having a wife and child I felt uncertain to meke a living with no
assets.

(D) If the fear did not extend from the date of application to the date of approval by the Attorney General, you should state whether you made
any effort to withdraw your application, and if not, explain fully:

(E) If, after approval, you requested the Attorney General to withdraw his approval of your renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the
reasons for the’delay in making such request: < y

I did not know I could meke a2 request for cancellation until affer I czme to
I wrote to lMr. Collins and asked to be included in the mass suit

Japan,




(F) If there are any 3
if necessary.

Page 4

influenced your action in renouncing your United States citizenship, state fully below or on a separate sheet

I L 'elso served in th
thought that my citizenship

will be deported

e of the
had to follow T

|

(B) If you are in Japan, have yg

If you have, state nature of’ actig

ot/

11. (A) If you have served or

I enlisted (or was drafted

I still am in such service....

Dec 31 192

on

(B) If at any time while in :
state the time when and the,

(C) State why your offer o

for the rejection if knows

ou returned to;Japan taken any action’
j t% Answer Yes or No
d reasons therefdr: ™ s

‘l_’""")

M s =
/ ?\’\g\l\\ “\

\

the military or naval forces of the United States fill in the following:

; my Serial number lsBQQOL‘,SB’[ ..... 3

I
A ml

|
13-19h1 o the Do an e Ry
State the date State the Branch of Service

and received my Discharge

on center or since then you volunteered for military or naval service but your offer of service was rejected
7ou volunteered.

i
!

i : ]
vas rejected, if the reason was made known to you.

i

|

|
‘naval service by your Local Draft Board since your release from a war relocation center state the reason
i

s

é y

12. If any member of
to you, the name of suc

erved or is serving in the military or naval forces of the United States state the relationship of such person
inch of service and serial number of such person:

.

1

i Name
............... o

Serial Number

Japan e 3
refecture of Fu
ity of Fukuoka
L osulate of thg]

Takashi Fumdto

(Signature in full of applicant)

E
)

of America

vorn to before me this

‘Matthew D, Smith, Jr.
American Vice Consul

% . B 8 0 //
arvice Mo 2012 |
it may be executed before any person authorized to administer oathe




AFFIDAVIT

INSTRUCTIONS FOR THE PREPARATION OF AFFIDAVIT

This atfndavnt should be specxﬁcally addressed to the circumstances of your particular case and should not consist of generalities. When
you are uncertain as to matters related in your affidavit write “uncertain”., Where you claim that any action was taken by you as the result of
fear, you should state in each instance, with the greatest possible particularity, what was feared and why. If it is claimed that the fears were
caused by threats from individuals or groups of individuals, the nature of the threats, the names of the individuals making them, if known,
and the time, place and occasion for the making of the threats should be given.

. If more space is needed for answers to particular questions, separate sheets of plain white paper should be used. Each separate sheet so
used should be plainly marked with the number of the question being answered and your name.

. Name Date of Birth
Tek: shi Fumoto Herch 5, 1918

. If born prior to December 1, 1924 | (A) Have you ever renounced Japanese

My perents Registered nationality? g
it right sfter my birgh snd when I found I hed dual ci

renounce :
3. morn since December 1, 1924 (A) Was your name ever registered with a Japanese Consulate for the purpose of reserving your Japanese
nationality?

If so, did you thereafter renounce your Japanese When
nationality?

4. State pericds of visits to Japan and purpose of each visit:

Date Purpose

From 1919 O | _ﬁsgmm_n:aj_xarmtv

1946 Prasent

5. Give details concerning any formal education in Japan:

School | Period of Attendance

Ochlel Gremmes School
Metsuncto Commercisl School

Specify subjects studied (attach additional sheet if necessary).

Business course

6. Have you ever made application for repatriation to Japan?... L@ __If so, give date noardaln and your reasons for so
lyi : O T"- 3 Er ¥ 2 ‘g, e T . o drs . 3
applying: A% © a‘n'ba e I wes fc;:cod. to slen by the pressure groups snd by so doing I would be
repetmz*teu faster so I put it ac to sce my perents in Je pen. When I heard thet my wife
t"\lf: % ozqed 4'1*«“:« "i :3.%_ ) ~‘4£‘l; 1& 4‘;‘ I 1 wes (‘rﬁ ‘-;t, -nv«,‘i tr- » :;;-,\ ATr v 1 TPy e -
. P & & Ll LTQUTIES o C Ln,’v .‘iu'f ir'h oecause o1 tf;ese _r’fI'Ox&_.”J.

7. (A) Have you ever expressly indicated that you would not swear unqualified Have you ever declined to answer when asked whether you
allegiance to the United States? would swear unqualified allegiance?

»

Yes

Or have you ever given a qualified answer to such question asked at War Relocation Centers? If so, give your reasons:

A fwﬁeaz‘fdfil?f“isnge to U.%. &nd served in U.5, Army but soon after the wer sterted T wes
rensierred Lo reserve cords end wes evecusted to camp, This made me feol thet ju t beczuse
¢r my encestry I was rejected of my Americen citiven end no hope of right, e

(B) If your answer to any of the questions in (A) is affirmative, then did you ever subsequently change your mind and express your willingness
to swear an unqualified allegiance or would you have been willing to do so if an opportunity had been afforded you? If so, state
when you changed your mind and your reasons therefor:

T 1 1 h LI ) 413 S n O . 3
;gc ?}. ._,,ttve been wi,J,.,in, te do so if I wes certiin thet my femily and I could have
located in 0.7, without fear and heve equel rights es other citizens,
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(C) Did you ever indicate that you would not swear unqualified allegiance to the United States either exprT‘ysor by r

fied answer, knowing that by so doing you would be sent to the WRA Segregation Center at Tule Lake?

efusal to answer, or a quali-
If so, give reasons: R—

Made to believe finzl deportation I did so because T wented my femilty to be together

8. (A)

WERE YOU EVER AT ANY TIME A MEMBER OF ANY OF THE FOLLOWING ORGANIZATIONS:

Period of

Membership

Black Dragon Society (Kokuryu Kai)

Central Japanese Association (Beikoku Chuo Nipponjin Kai)

Central Japanese Association of Southern California

Dai Nippon Butoku Kai (Military Virtue Society of Japan or Military Art Society of Japan) (Hokubei Kai)

Heimuska Kai, also known as Hokubei Heieki Gimusha Kai Zaibei N ihonjin, Heiyaku Gimusha Kai, and

Zaibei Heimusha Kai (Japanese residing in American Military Conscripts Assoc.) Heimusha Kai

Hinode Kai (Imperial Japanese Reservists)

Hinomaru Kai (Rising Sun Flag Society—a Group of Japanese War Veterans)

Hokubei Zaigo Shoko Dan (North American Reserve Officers Association)

Japanese Association of America (Zaibei Nihonjin Kai)

Japanese Overseas Central Society (Kaigai Dobo Chuo Kai)

Japanese Overseas Convention, Tokyo, Japan, 1940

Japanese Protective Association (Recruiting Organization)

Jikyoku Iin Kai (Current Affairs Association)

Kibei Seinen Kai (Association of U. S. Citizens of Japanese Ancestry who have returned to America after
studying in Japan)

Nanka Teikoku Gunyudan (Imperial Military Friends Group or Southern California War Veterans)

Nichibei Kogyo Kaisha (The Great Fujii Theatre)

Northwest Japanese Association

Sakura Kai (Patriotic Society or Cherry Association—composed of Veterans of Russo-Japanese War)

(Cherry Blossom Society)

Shinto Temples

Sokoku Kai (Fatherland Society)

Suiko Sha (Reserve Officers Association Los Angeles)

Hokoku Seinen-Dan

Hokoku Joshi Seinen-Dan

Sokoku Kenkyu Seinen-Dan

Sokuji Kikoku Hoshi-Dan

(B) Give reasons for becoming a member:

I was led into becoming & member and did not know it wes & bad orgenizetion,

(C) State nature of your activity and offices you held:

I was nemed as 2 officer efter a2ll the head offfbers was removed from Tule. The left
over members was all given some officer name because there were only few left.

(D) If you voluntarily discontinued membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, give approximate date and reasons for so doing:




7. I declined to enswer the question because I had sweared allegiance
to the U.S. and have served in the U.S, Army and expected so, but was called in
to the office several times to write a "Yes® or "No" answer,

I did not answdr this but since I wes in the U.,S, Army onee, I was being
forced by the surrounding and they had their eyes on me so in order to be on
the safe side I finally wwote "No",
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(E) If you claim that your membership in any of the aforementioned organizations, your activities therein, or your acceptance of an office was
due to misunderstanding of the purpose or nature of the organization, explain fully:

e AT ST A A G N D Ve €5 A

All the left over members were elected as officers end hed to eccept it. In oud

ward there were only sbout 6 left and we were sent t6 Santa Fe in last group in June
191&5. o )

R )

(F) If you at any time wished to discontinue membership, activity, or office and were prevented from so doing, explain fully:

I was forced to contimue membership and to insure ssfety I could not discontinue,

9. (A) When did you decide to apply for forms upon which to renounce your United States citizenship?
Give reasons for so doing:

At Tule Loke

Believing thet 1 we can not be tccepied as citizen T feared denger to our family upon
relocating and when deported.By the constant frightness of the pressure groups, and
could not think normelly,.

(B) If reasons given in answer to preceding question differ from reasons given to officer who held renunciation hearing, give your explanation
for difference:

I was taught to say that I'm Japenese so I am renouncin: and thet was 2ll,

(C) If you claim that your renunciation was caused by fear, you should explain fully why such fear extended from the time of the application for
renunciation papers until the date of actual renunciation:
Thinking that I will be deportcd I feared I have to renounce in order to have

familyy security having a wife and child I felt uncertain to make 2 living with no
assets.

(D) If the fear did not extend from the date of application to the date of approval by the Attorney General, you should state whether you made
any effort to withdraw your application, and if not, explain fully:

(E) If, after approval, you requested the Attorney General to withdraw his approval of your renunciation or to cancel your renunciation, give the
reasons for the delay in making such request:

I did not know I could meke & request for cancellstion until efter I ceme to Japan,
I wrote to Mr. Collins and asked to be included in the mass suit
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(F) If there are any other facts which influenced your action in renouncing your United States citizenship, state fully below or on a separate sheet
if necessary.

I wes not disloyel to the U,5, I registered with the dreft borsd end elsc served in &
oo Army but the Tov't classified me &5 elien enowy so 1 thouwht thet my eitieonship

was token sway end con mot be considered es cltisens en' w'll be desorted to Jenen
finelly, :

10. (A) If you now are in Japan, give your reasons for having returned to Japan.

Jein: under the pressure of the rrouss at te | & not heve o chenoe to think
streipht 6o I wish and had to follow them,

(B) If you are in Japan, have you since you returned to Japan taken any action to resume or acquire Japanese citizenship?

If you have, state nature of action taken and reasons therefor.

11. (A) If you have served or are serving in the military or naval forces of the United States fill in the following:

I enlisted (or was drafted) on......__.. . P S _r‘;r’g.'l in the s ; my Serial number is.... % onobity
Hﬁ .S“BE the } e State the Branch of Service # L ﬁj? i

I still am in such service

Ail?wer s 5 I was released from active duty on......... Pai 1219 and received my Discharge

qehtann--

(B) If at any time while in a war relocation center or since then you volunteered for military or nava! service but your offer of service was rejected
state the time when and the place where you volunteered.

(C) State why your offer of such service was rejected, if the reason was made known to you,

(D) If you were rejected for military or naval service by your Local Draft Board since your release from a war relocation center state the reason
for the rejection if known to you.

12. If any member of your family has served or is serving in the military or naval forces of the United States state the relationship of such person
to you, the name of such person, the branch of service and serial number of such person:

Relationship

Branch of Service Serial Number

‘ﬁ ‘
LA d d
Sort-- &)

(Signature in full of applicant)

Subscribed and sworn to before me this 19..

This affidavit may be executed before any person authorized to administer oaths.




